Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take
no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or

in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.
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ANNUAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after

due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no

assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.



This announcement, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Zhejiang United Investment
Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this announcement is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement

herein or this announcement misleading.

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors™) of Zhejiang United Investment
Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to announce the audited consolidated
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the year ended 30
April 2021. This announcement, containing the full text of the 2021 Annual Report of the
Company, complies with the relevant requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) in relation to information to accompany preliminary announcements of annual

results.

CONTINUED SUSPENSION OF TRADING OF THE SHARES

At the request of the Company, trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange
has been suspended from 9:00 a.m. on Monday, 2 August 2021 and will remain suspended

until further notice.



Shareholders and potential investors are advised to exercise caution when dealing in the

shares of the Company.

By order of the Board
Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited
Lai Pik Chi Peggy

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 November 2021

As at the date of this announcement, the executive Directors of the Company are Ms. Lai Pik Chi
Peggy and Mr. Choi Pun Lap, and the independent non-executive Directors of the Company are Mr.

Leung Tsun Ip, Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan and Mr. Fu Yan Ming.

This announcement will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the GEM website
at www.hkgem.com for at least 7 days from the day of its posting. This announcement will also be

published on the Company’s website at http://www.zjuv8366.com.



Characteristics of GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

(the "Stock Exchange”)
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GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and
mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make

the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized
companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid

market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any
loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the

contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)") of Zhejiang United
Investment Holdings Group Limited (the "Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or

this report misleading.

This report will remain on the "Latest Listed Company Information” page
of the GEM website at http.//www.hkgem.com for at least 7/ days from
its date of posting and on the designated website of this Company at
http://www.zjuv8366.com.
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REVENUE
e

FY2020/21: HK$110.1m

TR/ CME N0 BERT
FY2019/20: HK$144.8m
ZE-N/ZTHF 448 BBET

LOSS PER SHARE

BIEE

FY2020/21: HK5.92 cents
—TZT/Z—BF 59281
FY2019/20 HK2.51 cents
“E-N/ZEHE 25181

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN FY2020/2
“ECE )/ EEFE
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Highlights
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GROSS PROFIT
E7

FY2020/21: HK$1.5m
ZECE/-WFISEEET
FY2019/20: HK$1.3m
ZE-N/ZEHF 13EEET

NET LOSS
FY2020/21: HK$93.4
ZTT )/ HF 9348

FY2019/20: HK$39.6m
“E-N/ZEUF 96ABET

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN FY2019/20
TN/ —BHEERE
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is a contractor principally engaged in undertaking slope works,
foundation works and other general building works in Hong Kong. Slope works
generally refer to landslip preventive and remedial works for improving or
maintaining the stability of slopes and/or retaining walls. Foundation works are
generally concerned with the construction of foundations. General building
works mainly include the general construction of buildings. Fraser Construction
Company Limited, our principal operating subsidiary, is an approved specialist
contractor included in the List of Approved Specialist Contractors for Public
Works maintained by the Development Bureau of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (the "Hong Kong Government”) under
the categories of “Landslip Preventive/Remedial Works to Slopes/Retaining
Walls" with a confirmed status and “Land Piling (Group I1)”. Being on such list
is a prerequisite for tendering for public sector projects in the relevant works
categories. In addition, Fraser Construction Company Limited is registered
under the Buildings Ordinance (Chapter 123 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as a
(i) Registered Specialist Contractor under the sub-register of “Site Formation
Works" and “Foundation Works" categories; and (ii) Registered General Building

Contractor.

The Group experienced a decrease in revenue and slightly increase in gross
profit margin, but recorded an increased in net loss for the year ended 30 April
2021 compared to the net loss for the year ended 30 April 2020. Hong Kong
construction companies are facing tougher competitive condition, as well as the
slower progress of scrutinising the funding proposals for public works projects
by the Finance Committee and the Public Works Subcommittee due to political
and social chaos in Hong Kong. The Group has also been facing challenging
operating environment resulting from increasing costs of operation including, in
particular, higher subcontracting rate and higher general operation costs. As such,
the Directors consider that competition in the market has become more intense

recently.
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The Directors are also cautiously monitoring the overall construction costs with
respect to the works undertaken by the Group which are affected by factors
including the overall market conditions and costs in the construction industry as

well as overall economy in Hong Kong.

Going forward, in developing the Group's business, the Directors will continue to
carefully evaluate the potential costs and to control the Group's overall costs to

an acceptable and satisfactory level.

Nevertheless, we believe that the Hong Kong Government’s continuing increase
in major construction and infrastructure projects in Hong Kong will increase the
demand for slope works because of the continued implementation of the “Ten
Major Infrastructure Projects” and the fact that slope works are directly related
to public safety. The Hong Kong Government still maintain its stand to launch a
rolling Landslip Prevention and Mitigation Programme to systematically deal with
the landslide risk associated with both man-made slopes and natural hillsides. The
stand enable steady flow of slopes construction works load to the construction
industry. All in all, the Directors remain cautiously optimistic about the slope

works industry in Hong Kong.

Up to the date of this report, the Group has obtained public projects from
each of Civil Engineering and Development Department (“CEDD") and Lands
Department of the Hong Kong Government respectively, which are expected to

be completed in the coming years.
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EEEN W& DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's overall revenue decreased by approximately HK$34.7 million or
24.0% from approximately HK$144.8 million for the year ended 30 April 2020
to approximately HK$!10.1 million for the year ended 30 April 2021. The
decreased in revenue is mainly due to the decrease in revenue derived from

undertaking slope works and foundation works as further discussed below.

The Board regards the Group's business of construction as a single operating
segment and reviews the overall results of the Group as a whole to make
decision about resources allocation. Accordingly, no segment analysis information
is presented. No separate analysis of segment information by geographical
segment is presented as the Group's revenue and non-current assets are
principally attributable to a single geographical region, which is in Hong Kong.
The Group's principal operating activities for the year ended 30 April 2021 are

as follows:

Slope works: Undertaking landslip preventive and remedial works for improving
or maintaining the stability of slopes and/or retaining walls. Revenue from
undertaking slope works decreased from approximately HK$134.6 million for the
year ended 30 April 2020 to approximately HK$110.0 million for the year ended
30 April 2021, representing a decrease of approximately 18.3%. The decrease in

revenue was primarily attributable due to the down size of slope work projects.

Foundation works: Undertaking works in relation to the construction of
foundations for general building construction. Revenue from undertaking
foundation works decreased from approximately HK$10.2 million for the year
ended 30 April 2020 to approximately HK$0.l million for the year ended 30
April 2021, representing an decrease of approximately 99.0%, as a result of the
decrease in the number of foundation work projects undertaken by our Group

during the year ended 30 April 2021.

The Group's direct costs decreased by approximately HK$34.8 million or 24.3%
from approximately HK$143.5 million for the year ended 30 April 2020 to
approximately HK$108.7 million for the year ended 30 April 2021. Such decrease
was mainly attributable to the decrease in amount of works performed resulting

in the decrease in our subcontracting charges.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group's gross profit slightly increased by approximately HK$0.2 million or
15.4% from approximately HK$1.3 million for the year ended 30 April 2020 to
approximately HK$1.5 million for the year ended 30 April 2021 and the Group's
gross profit margin increased from approximately 0.9% for the year ended
30 April 2020 to approximately 1.3% for the year ended 30 April 2021. The
slightly increased in gross profit margin was mainly due to apply tight control in
subcontracting rate and overall construction costs for existing projects under the
tougher competitive condition and challenging operating environment in Hong

Kong construction market.

Other Income and Other Net Loss

The Group's net of other income and other net loss amounted to loss
approximately HK$1.4 million and gain HK$1.3 million for the years ended
30 April 2020 and 2021 respectively, which was mainly due to the increased
of government grant of approximately HK$1.3 million and the decreased of

exchange loss of approximately HK$2.7 million for the year ended 30 April 2021.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$25.8
million or approximately 63.2% from approximately HK$40.8 million for the year
ended 30 April 2020 to approximately HK$15.0 million for the year ended 30
April 2021. The decreased in the Group's administrative expenses was primarily
due to mainly decreased in total staff costs and research and development

expenses.

Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries

During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Group has incurred a loss of
approximately HK$23.6 million due to the Special Event mentioned below under
the heading of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries in PRC. More information is set out

in note 2.4 and note 24 (b).
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Impairment loss on financial assets

Included in an amount of approximately HK$57.5 million of impairment loss on
financial assets, The following are the main reasons of matters of impairment
during the year ended 30 April 2021.

(

) During the year ended 30 April 2021,

impairment loss of approximately HK$43.9 million due to an amount due

the Group has incurred an

from a deconsolidated subsidiary. More information is set out in note 2.4
and note 24(c).

(i)  During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Group has incurred an
impairment loss of approximately HK$13.4 million. More information is set

out in notes 8(b), 16(c) and (d).

Net Loss

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2021
was approximately HK$93.4 million as compared to loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$39.6 million for the year ended 30 April
2020. The increase in net loss for the year was mainly due to increase in loss on
deconsolidation of subsidiaries and impairment loss on financial assets as a result

of the Special Event for the year ended 30 April 2021 as discussed above.

Final Dividend
The Board did not recommend a payment of a final dividend for the year ended
30 April 2021 (2020: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 30 April 2021, current assets amounted to HK$49.4 million (2020:
HK$160.2 million) of which HK$25.2 million (2020: HK$37.4 million) was cash
and cash equivalents, HK$14.3 million (2020: HK$109.3 million) was trade and
other receivables. The Group's current liabilities amounted to HK$62.0 million
(2020: HK$84.2 million), including trade and other payables in the amount of
HK$62.0 million (2020: HK$83.7 million). Calculated based on current assets
of HK$49.4 million (2020: HK$160.2 million) divided by current liabilities of
HK$62.0 million (2020: HK$84.2 million), current ratio was 0.8 (2020: 1.9).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CASH POSITION

As at 30 April 2021, the cash at banks and other financial institution and cash
in hand of the Group amounted to approximately HK$25.2 million (2020:
approximately HK$37.4 million), representing a decrease of approximately

HK$12.2 million as compared to 30 April 2020.

CHARGES OVER ASSETS OF THE GROUP
The Group has total present value of minimum lease payments in relation to
lease liabilities of approximately HK$nil as at 30 April 2021 (2020: HK$4,000)

which were secured by the relevant leased equipment.

No other charge over assets of the Group as at 30 April 2021 (2020: Nil).

GEARING RATIO
As at 30 April 2021, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately negative
286.5% (2020: approximately positive 51.8%).

The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts HK$34.0 million (2020: HK$41.1
million) divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company HK$II.9
million deficit (2020: HK$79.3 million) as the respective reporting date. For
this purpose total debts is defined as amounts due to directors, director of a
subsidiary and lease liabilities as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group's gearing ratio was negative as the Group's equity was

deficit position as at 30 April 2021,

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
The majority of the Group's transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in
Hong Kong dollar. The Group has no material exposed to exchange rate risk for

the year ended 30 April 2021.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no material capital commitment as at 30 April 2021 (2020: Nil).
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 April 2021, the Group had 16 (2020: 18) employees, including the
Directors. Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) were approximately
HK$7.1 million for the year ended 30 April 2021 as compared to approximately
HK$6.2 million for the year ended 30 April 2020. The remuneration policy
and package of the Group's employees were annually reviewed. The salaries
increment and discretionary bonuses may be awarded to employees according to

the assessment of individual performance.

The emoluments of the Directors were reviewed by the remuneration committee
of the Company, having regard to the Company's operating results, market

competitiveness, individual performance, and approved by the Board.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES, AND
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have other plans for

material investments or capital assets as of 30 April 2021,

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 April 2021, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2020: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The change in the capital structure of the Company for the year ended 30 April
2021 is set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements. The share

capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 30 April 2021, the Company's issued capital was approximately HK$15.8
million and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,577,200,000 of

HK$0.01 each.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information is presented for the Group as disclosed on note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's key risk exposures are summarized as follows:

A significant portion of the Group's past revenue was generated from
contracts granted by the Hong Kong Government and statutory bodies,
which are non-recurrent in nature, and if the level of Hong Kong
Government's spending on construction projects particularly for slope
works is reduced, the Group's financial performance may be materially

affected;

i, The Group is dependent on its senior management and in-house engineers,
inability to retain its staff may adversely affect the Group's business

operations; and

ii.  Any delays in the Group's projects may affect the Group's cash flows and

may have adverse impact on the Group's business and reputation.

For other risks and uncertainties facing the Group, please refer to the section

headed “Risks Factors” in the Prospectus.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company's subsidiaries
in Hong Kong while the Company itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our
establishment and operations shall therefore comply with the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong. External compliance and legal advisers are engaged
to ensure transactions and businesses performed by the Group are within the
applicable law framework. Updates on applicable laws, rules and regulations are
brought to the attention of relevant employees and operation units from time
to time. During the year ended 30 April 2021 and up to the date of this annual
report, there is no material non-compliance with the relevant prevailing laws and

regulations in Hong Kong by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS, SUBCONTRACTORS
AND EMPLOYEES

Customers

The Group's customers mainly include (a) for public sector projects, Hong Kong
Government departments such as CEDD, Lands Department and Architectural
Services Department, as well as other statutory bodies including the Hong Kong
Housing Authority; and (b) for private sector projects, private corporations and

other entities in the private sector.

During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Group served customers from both
of public and private sector in Hong Kong. The Group has business relationship

with most of the top customers ranging from one year to over 10 years.
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Suppliers and Subcontractors

During the year ended 30 April 2021, the suppliers of goods and services which
were specific to the business of the Group and were required on a regular
basis to enable the Group to continue to carry on its business included (i)
subcontractors engaged by the Group to perform the slope works; (i) suppliers
of construction materials and consumables as such high-tensile steel, structural

steel, cement and aggregates.

The Group maintains an internal list of approved subcontractors. While engaging
subcontractors, the Group generally selects the most suitable subcontractor from
the approved list based on their relevant experience as well as their availability

and fee quotations.

The Group did not experience any material difficulties in sourcing materials from
suppliers or assigning subcontractors during the year ended 30 April 2021. Also,
there is no significant dispute with our top five suppliers and subcontractors
during the year ended 30 April 2021.

Employees

The Group believes that employees are important assets and their contribution
and support are valued at all times. The Group provides competitive
remuneration packages to attract and retain employees with the aim to form
a professional staff and management team that can bring the Group to new
levels of success. The Group regularly reviews compensation according to
industry benchmark, financial results as well as the individual performance of
employees. Furthermore, the Group places great emphasis on the training and
development of employees and regards excellent employees as a key factor in its

competitiveness.
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Deconsolidated Subsidiaries in PRC

Pursuants to the Company's announcement dated |5 October 2021, the
Company appointed a legal adviser (the “PRC Legal Adviser") and the Company
has been reported by the PRC Legal Advisers as below:

) The PRC Legal Adviser has made enquiry to the branch office of the
Hangzhou Public Security Bureau* (MMM ALZBHERHB) and it
indicated that Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were suspected of illegal absorption
of public deposits under the operation of Zhejiang United Small-and
Medium-sized Enterprises Holdings Group Company Limited* (#/TE#i&
NEEEREEBR A, a company incorporated and operated in the
PRC of which Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng are the ultimate shareholders and
not a subsidiary within the Group, which were under formal investigation.
On 21 July 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were held in custody by the
Bureau. On 26 August 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were officially
arrested by People's Procuratorate of Gongshu District, Hangzhou. The
Bureau has published a press release in relation to their arrest on 27
August 202 1.

2)  The PRC Legal Adviser conducted on-site visit to the registered offices and
principal places of business of the PRC subsidiaries, namely Zhejiang Zhong
Chun Wenhua Keji Limited* (M THZXCRHEBRAR]) (“Zhejiang
Zhong Chun"), Zhejiang Fu Lian Zichan Guanli Limited* (I E&EEE
EEEMRAF) (“Zhejiang Fulian”) and Zhejiang Xin Lian Hengi Tongxun
Jishu Limited* O/ L# I EEBARMBR AT ("Zhejiang Xinlian”) and
found that, the respective premises of the registered offices and principal
places of business of the above mentioned PRC subsidiaries were either
empty or occupied by other parties instead of the above mentioned
PRC subsidiaries. The PRC Legal Adviser made enquiry to the relevant
government authorities and found that no other business addresses were

registered by the above mentioned PRC subsidiaries.

3)  The PRC Legal Adviser also made enquiry to the offices of the principal
banks of the PRC subsidiaries which responded that the details and status
of the bank accounts of the PRC subsidiaries could only be accessed by
their legal representatives or their delegate. All the legal representatives of

the PRC subsidiaries were unable to be contacted during the investigation.

* For identification purpose only
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Up to the date of the this report, the Group was not able to locate the books
and records of Zhejiang Zhong Chun, Zhejiang Fulian and Zhejiang Xinlian and
not able to obtain the latest information of Zhejiang Zhong Chun, Zhejiang
Fulian and Zhejiang Xinlian for the purpose of preparing the Annual Results, as
a result of the event mentioned above in point |, 2 and 3 (the “Special Event”).
The Group has loss control on Zhejiang Zhong Chun, Zhejiang Fulian and
Zhejiang Xinlian and accounted for deconsolidated of Zhejiang Zhong Chun,
Zhejiang Fulian and Zhejiang Xinlian (the “Deconsolidation”) for the year ended
30 April 2021. Therefore, the Group has recorded loss on Deconsolidation
of approximately HK$23.6 million and impairment loss on amount due from
deconsolidated subsidiary of approximately HK$43.9 million in relation to the

Deconsolidation.

Management’s View on the Disclaimer of Opinion

The management of the Company has given careful consideration to the
Disclaimer of Opinion and the basis of Disclaimer of Opinion and has had
ongoing discussion with the auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) when

preparing the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Regarding disclaimer of opinion, (i) deconsolidation of subsidiaries and (i)
amounts due to former directors as disclosed in this annual report, to the
management's best knowledge and belief, the management understood that the
limitation of scope was mainly due to the Special Event mentioned in above

under the heading of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries in PRC.

EEENWR D

MR RS 2RIHRROEN - EEXR
ERH - ARERERGRFEZENENT
IF NI EE T B ARG RS T
REVSHIHRZ - I =& R 8 R 3
BR(BASEMH]) FEERREHMITF
F T EERANTHB R HE - YREE
TR -FUA=TREFER LGS AN
IHE MIEERMTHBIRLEREA
R o At AREDHGEBRR LGS AR
MEEN 236 BB T RERE LGS RN
BLRAANBERRNBIEERT °

EERABARRERNER

NRAEAEEGFEAMBRERE - ARAIEEE
EEREETRREARTEREANESR
I 2 B AR BN ([ 200 ) R A&

A
A ©

BE ()R ILERE AR BAR - (i) AERBEE
MENMESFENTERER  REERBM
Mk ERERRINSERMDEZHR
X A AR B & A R AT A Rl
SHATH -




ZHEJIANG UNITED INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
2021 ANNUAL REPORT

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN W& DM

In order to address it, the management had used their best endeavours to
locate the books and records and information of Zhejiang Zhong Chun, Zhejiang
Fulian and Zhejiang Xinlian but in vain. Subsequent to the reporting period, the
management concluded that the Group lost the control of Zhejiang Zhong Chun,
Zhejiang Fulian and Zhejiang Xinlian and deconsolidated of Zhejiang Zhong
Chun, Zhejiang Fulian, and Zhejiang Xinlian (the “Deconsolidated Subsidiaries™)
for the year ended 30 April 2021.

Regarding the disclaimer opinion, (i) deconsolidation of subsidiaries and (ii)
amounts due to former directors, the Directors used their best endeavours to
locate the books and records and have appointed the PRC Legal Adviser to assist
the Directors to obtain more information of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. As
a result of the Special Event, a decision of deconsolidation of Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries was made for the year ended 30 April 2021. The Directors have
been closely monitoring any further information relating to Mr. Zhou and Ms.
Meng as well as the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries and will take appropriate action

when necessary.

After discussing with the professional parties of the Company, the management
has the intention that the deconsolidation of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
proceeds to complete by the way of, including but not limited to, (i) resume
the control of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries and (ii) disposal of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, if the whole process to be completed on or prior
to 30 April 2022, as such, the disclaimer of opinion could be removed in the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ending 30 April 2022, as
the financial information of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries would affect the
corresponding figures in the consolidated financial statements for the year ending
30 April 2022, therefore qualification in audit opinion would be expected for the
year ending 30 April 2022 but would not further affect the consolidated financial
statements for the year ending 30 April 2023.
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Audit Committee’s View on the Disclaimer of Opinion

The Company had tried to provide sufficient supporting document and
information to the Auditor. However, up to the reporting date, the books and
records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were not available due to the Special

Event.

Due to the incomplete books and records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries,
the Auditor was unable to carryout audit procedures to obtain sufficient
reliable audit evidence to satisfy themselves as to whether (i) the loss on the
deconsolidation of subsidiaries and the release of reserves upon deconsolidation
of subsidiaries amounting to HK$23,575,000 and approximately HK$4,173,000
respectively included in the consolidated statement of profit on loss and other
comprehensive income of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2021 as well
as the disclosures set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
were free from material misstatement; (ii) the Group had lost control of

Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.

The Audit Committee acknowledged the views of the Auditor regarding the
disclaimer of opinion. After reviewing the evidence and documents available,
the loss of control of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were due to the Special
Event which was beyond the control and without any fault of the Company
and its Directors, the majority of which only joined the Company on or after
April 2021. The Audit Committee consider that the Company's treatments for
deconsolidation of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries was appropriate and present

more fairly to the results and state of affairs of the Group.
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Removal of Disclaimer of Opinion

After discussing with the professional party of the Company, the management
has the intention that the deconsolidation of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
proceeds to complete by the way of, including but not limited to, (i) resume
the control of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries; and (i) disposal of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, if the whole process to be completed on or prior
to 30 April 2022, as such, the disclaimer of opinion could be removed in the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ending 30 April 2022, as
the financial information of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries would affect the
corresponding figures in the consolidated financial statements for the year ending
30 April 2022, therefore qualification in audit opinion would be expected for the
year ending 30 April 2022 but would not further affect the consolidated financial
statements for the year ending 30 April 2023.

New project during the Year

Jiang Lian Mei An Wenhua Chuanmei (Zhejiang) Limited* (TESE R (b @1
(#17T) BBR2A A (“iang Lian Mei An"), a PRC company newly incorporated on
I8 September 2020 with 51% equity interest held by Zhejiang Fu Lian. Mr. Zhou
and Ms. Meng are senior management of Jiang Lian Mei An. More information is

set out in the Company's announcement date 31 August 2020.

The Company has been reported by the PRC Legal Adviser regarding Jiang Lian
Mei An, more information is set out in the Company's announcement date 15
October 2021.

As a result of the Special Event and Zhejiang Fu Lian was deconsolidated on |
May 2020 for the year ended 30 April 2021, the Group has no control on Jiang
Lian Mei An. Therefore, the results and financial position of Jiang Lian Mei An

was not included in the Group's consolidation for the year ended 30 April 2021.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (“Ms. Lai”), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in 19 November 2019 and re-designated as executive
Director and appointed as the Company Secretary on 19 July 2021, Ms. Lai was
appointed as the Compliance Officer of the Company on 30 September 2021.
Ms. Lai has over 20 years of auditing, accounting and financial management
experience. She obtained a master degree of business administration from
the University of Manchester. She is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

She is currently an independent non-executive director of KPa-BM Holdings Ltd
(stock code: 2663), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong listed (“Stock Exchange”), an independent non-executive director
of KNK Holdings Limited (stock code: 8039) since August 2019 and a non-
executive director of Larry Jewelry International Company Limited (stock
code: 8351), both companies listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. She is the
company secretary of Evergreen International Holdings Limited (stock code:
238), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She was
an independent non-executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited
(previous stock code: 1363 prior of delisting from the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) from 3 August 2020 to 9 August 2021.
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Mr. Choi Pun Lap (“Mr. Choi”), aged 44, was appointed as an executive
Director on 30 September 202 1. Mr. Choi has extensive knowledge in corporate
finance transactions in Hong Kong. He is well experienced for working in mergers
& acquisition, analysing financial and market data, responsible for coordinating
and supporting integration planning for acquisitions, and taking deals through
the full process to successful completion. Mr. Choi is a valuation practitioner of
International Association of Certified Valuation Specialists since 2019. He is a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of
Certified Practising Accountants Australia and a member of Chartered Global
Management Accountant. Mr. Choi graduated from Hong Kong Metropolitan
University with a Master of Law (Chinese Business Law) in Hong Kong in 2017.
He obtained a Bachelor of Business (Accounting) from Central Queensland
University in Australia in 2003 and further studied Postgraduate Diploma of
Accounting in Monash University in Australia in 2005.

He is currently (i) the financial controller of the Company; (i) an executive
director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148), a company
listed on the GEM of Stock Exchange; and (iii) an independent non-executive
director of Sunway International Holdings Limited (stock code: 58), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Also, he is a principal of
Absolute Value Business & Asset Valuation Limited which provides services of
valuation, accounting and business solution to different companies in different
industries. In the past, Mr. Choi was a financial controller of a company which
was listed in GEM in 2019 and he was a senior audit manager in the audit
department of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited ("HLB") in Hong Kong and
involved in the professional jobs such as IPO, substantial acquisition and disposal,
financial due diligence, statutory audit and internal control review. He worked in

HLB for more than ten years from February 2007 to December 2017.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip, aged 39, was appointed as an Independent non-executive
Director on 2| October 2021. Mr. Leung has more than |5 years of experience

in finance and asset management.

Mr. Leung received his Bachelor of Science in Risk Management and his Master
of Philosophy in Systems Engineering and Engineering Management from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is currently a certified Financial Risk
Manager (FRM), as well as an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (HKCGI) (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries, HKICS) and The Chartered Governance Institute (CGl)
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators,

ICSA) in the United Kingdom.

Mr. Hui Man Ho lIvan, aged 42, was appointed as an Independent non-executive
Director on 21 October 2021. Mr. Hui has over |6 years of working experience

in auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate finance.

Mr. Hui holds Master degree in Practising Accounting, Master degree in Applied
Finance and a Bachelor degree in Business (Banking & Finance) from Monash

University, Australia. He is also a member of CPA Australia.

Mr. Hui is currently an independent non-executive director of Prime Intelligence
Solutions Group Limited (stock code: 8379), a company listed on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange; and Upbest Group Limited (stock code: 335) and Elegance
Optical International Holdings Limited (stock code: 907), both companies are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Fu Yan Ming, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent non-executive
Director on 21 October 2021. Mr. Fu possess over 30 years of experience
in accounting, audit, internal control, financial management, strategic business
planning, corporate finance, merger and acquisition and corporate governance.
He has worked for various sizeable organizations including accounting
firms, pharmaceutical distribution company, TMT (Technology, Media and
Telecommunications) companies, manufacturing companies and consultancy firm.
During the past |5 years, he held various senior positions including financial
controller and company secretary in main board and GEM listed companies of

Hong Kong.

Mr. Fu is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He obtained a Bachelors’ Degree of Business Administration from

The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Fu is currently an independent non-executive director of Aurum Pacific
(China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148), a company listed on the GEM of
Stock Exchange. Mr. Fu was an executive director of On Real International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8245), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange, from October 2016 to September 2019.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Project Manager

Mr. LEE Ho Cheong (“Mr. Lee”), is our senior project manager who is
responsible for project management and supervision. Mr. Lee joined our Group
in July 2000. He has over 26 years of experience in the construction industry in
Hong Kong. Prior to joining our Group, he had accumulated experience in the
construction industry in Hong Kong through his employment in AECOM Asia
Company Limited (formerly known as Maunsell Consultants Asia Limited) from
July 1999 to July 2000, Vibro (H.K)) Limited from August 1997 to July 1999,
AECOM Consulting Services Limited (formerly known as Scott Wilson (Hong
Kong) Limited) from November 1995 to July 1997 and Franki Contractors
Limited from November 1992 to October 995.

Mr. Lee completed the Construction Supervisor Trainee programme, the
Construction Safety Officer Course, and the Environmental Officer course, all of
which were organised by the Construction Industry Training Authority, in August
1992, January 2004, and March 2007 respectively. He also obtained a certificate
in Civil Engineering Studies through part-time studies from the Haking Wong
Technical Institute (now known as IVE (Haking Wong)) in August 1993 and a
higher certificate in Civil Engineering from Hong Kong Technical Colleges in July
1995, Mr. Lee also completed a safety auditor training scheme organised by the

Construction Industry Council in September 201 1.
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Mr. HO Chi Ming, Alvin (“Mr. Ho"), is our senior project manager who is
responsible for project management and supervision. Mr. Ho joined our Group in
May 2003. Mr. Ho has been an associate member of The Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers since May 2005, a member of the Australian Institute of Building
since May 2007, and is currently a member of The Hong Kong Institute of

Construction Managers.

Mr. Ho has over 27 years of experience in the construction industry in Hong
Kong. Prior to joining us, he had accumulated experience in the industry through
his employment in Ka Construction Company Limited from February 2000
to January 2003, PYl Management Limited (formerly known as Paul Y.-ITC
Management Limited) from July 1995 to February 2000, AECOM Asia Company
Limited (formerly known as Maunsell Consultants Asia Limited) from July
1993 to July 1995, and D.E. Engineering Company from March 1992 to March
1993. Mr. Ho obtained a certificate in Civil Engineering from Haking Wong
Technical Institute (now known as IVE (Haking Wong)) in September 1995
(by part-time studies), a certificate of Construction Safety Supervisor from the
Construction Industry Training Authority in October 1995, a higher certificate
in Civil Engineering from Hong Kong Technical Colleges in June 1997 (by part-
time studies), and a Bachelor of Applied Science in Construction Management
& Economics degree from Curtin University of Technology in Australia in
September 2004 (by part-time studies and long distance learning). Mr. Ho also
completed a Construction Safety Officer course organised by the Construction

Industry Training Authority in August 2000.
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Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
GEM (the "GEM Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) GEM Listing Rules, the Board is pleased to present
hereby the corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended 30

April 2021 (the "Year").

The Directors and the management of the Group recognise the importance
of sound corporate governance to the long-term success and continuing
development of the Group. Therefore, the Board takes the view that good
corporate standards and procedures, so as to improve the accountability system
and transparency of the Group, protect the interests and create value for

shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the Year, the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"), except the followings in
Appendix |5 of the GEM Listing Rules save for the deviation from code provision

A.2.1 explained below.

(i)  Code provision A.1.8 - The Company did not arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its directors. The
insurance was bought and covered for the period of one year with

effective from || August 2021.

(i) Code provision A2, - The roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Zhou
has been managing the Company’ s business and the overall financial and
strategic planning since July 2017. Since the Company has appointed Mr.
Zhou as chairman and chief executive officer, the roles of the chairman
and chief executive officer were not separated and performed by two
different individuals. Mr. Zhou was removed by the EGM on 30 September
2021.

(i) Code provision A2.7 - The chairman should at least annually hold meetings
with the independent non-executive directors without the presence of

other directors. No such meeting could be arranged during the Year.
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In most of the time of the Year, due to the presence of three independent non-
executive Directors which represent half of the Board, the Board considers
that there is a balance of power and authority such that no one individual has

unfettered power of decision.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted a code of provisions of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors the (“Code of Conduct”) on terms no less exacting
than the required standards of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries with the Directors except Mr. Zhou
Ying and Ms. Meng Ying, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Code of Conduct during the year
ended 30 April 2021.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting

terms than the Code of Conduct for the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Comeposition of the Board

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five Directors,
including two executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors (“INED(s)"). In particular, the composition of the Board is set out as

follow:

Executive Directors
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (Compliance Officer)
(re-designated from INED on 19 July 2021)

Mr. Choi Pun Lap (appointed on 30 September 2021)
Mr. Zhou Ying (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(removed on 30 September 2021)
Ms. Meng Ying (Compliance Officer)
(removed on 30 September 2021)
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Independent Non-executive Directors (“INED”)
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Hui Man Ho lvan
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Fu Yan Ming
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond
(resigned on 9 March 2021)
Mr. Tsui Chung Ho
(resigned on 12 March 2021)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
(re-designated to executive Director on 19 July 2021)
Dr. Wong Foelan
(appointed on 26 April 2021 and resigned on 21 June 2021)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group acknowledges the impact of its works to its employees, the
community and the environment. Together with its employees and staffs from
its subcontractors and suppliers, the Group's emissions and waste generation
are strictly controlled and monitored. As required for all construction sites,
the Group complies with the following environmental laws and ordinance, all
emissions and waste generated during operation are strictly controlled and

monitored.

Further discussions on the Group's environmental policies and our relationship
with various stakeholders are covered by a separate Environmental, Social and
Governance report which will be available at the websites of the Company and

the Stock Exchange in due course as soon as possible.
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The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group's overall
strategies, the setting of management targets and supervision of management
performance. The management is delegated with the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the management and administration of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees
of the Company (the “Board Committees”). Further details of the Board
Committees are set out in this annual report. Pursuant to the terms of reference,
the duties performed by the Board in respect of corporate governance are as

follows:

[. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate governance

of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on compliance

with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance

manual (if any) applicable to Directors and employees;

5. to review the Company's compliance with the Code and disclosure in the

corporate governance report of the Company; and

6. to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from
time to time be contained in the constitution of the Company or imposed

by the GEM Listing Rules or applicable laws.

Saved as disclosed in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report, there is no financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationship among members of the Board and senior

management.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with rules 5.05(1) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board
consisted of three INEDs during the year ended 30 April 2021, except for the
period from 9 March 2021 to 30 April 2021. During the year ended 30 April
2021, the number of INEDs represents more than one-third of the Board, except
for the period from 9 March 2021 to 30 April 2021. At least one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial

management expertise.

The functions of independent non-executive directors are primarily to bring an
independent judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,

resources, key appointments and standards of conducts at board meetings.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Current independent non-executive directors have made an annual confirmation
of independence by reference to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
the Company considers that all independent nonexecutive directors were

independent.

DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond, resigned as an independent non- executive
Director, a chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) and the member of each of the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and the legal compliance committee
of the Company (the “Legal Compliance Committee”), with effect from 9 March
2021 and Mr. Tsui Chung Ho (“Mr. Tsui") resigned as an independent non-
executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee and the chairman of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Legal Compliance Committee, with

effect from 12 March 2021.
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Dr. Wong Foelan ("Dr. Wong") was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration Committee, members of
each of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Legal Compliance
Committee, with effect from 26 April 2021. Dr. Wong has tendered his
resignation as independent non-executive Director, chairman of Remuneration
Committee and member of each of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Legal Compliance Committee with effect from 21 June 2021. Following
their resignation, on 9 March 2021 to 2| October 2021, (i) the number of
independent non-executive Directors falls below the minimum number required
under Rules 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules, (ii) the number of Audit Committee
members falls below the minimum number required under Rules 5.28 of the
GEM Listing Rules, and (iii) from 12 March 2021 to 21 October 2021, the
Nomination Committee did not comprise a majority of independent non-
executive Directors as required under Code Provision A.5.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix |5
to the GEM Listing Rules. Post 21 October 2021, the Company has identified an
appropriate person to fill the vacancy of the members of Nomination Committee

with a view to meet the above requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (“Ms. Lai") has been appointed as the chairman of the
Audit Committee with effect from 26 April 2021. Ms. Lai has re-designated from
independent non-executive Director to executive Director, and accordingly
ceased to be the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Legal Compliance Committee and appointed as the company secretary and an
authorised representative of the Company with effect from 19 July 2021 and was
appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and the Compliance

Officer on 30 September 2021,

Mr. Zhou Ying, the former chairman and former executive Director, was
appointed as the chairman and member of the Legal Compliance Committee
with effect from 19 July 2021 and was removed as chairman, executive Director
and from position he holds in any committee of the Board on 30 September

2021,
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Ms. Meng Ying, the former executive Director and the former Compliance
Officer was removed from office as executive Director and the Compliance

Officer on 30 September 2021.

Mr. Fu Yan Ming has been appointed as an independent non- executive Director,
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration

Committee, with effect from 21 October 2021.

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 21 October
2021, Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
with effect from 21 October 2021. (i) the Company has three independent non-
executive Directors, and is in compliance with the requirements under Rule
5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules; and (ii) the Audit Committee comprised three
members, and is in compliance with the requirements under Rule 528 of the

GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has entered into an appointment letter with each of the INEDs.
The commencement date of each of the appointment letter from 21 October
2021 for an initial team of three years, which may be terminated earlier by no

less than one month written notice served by either party on the other.

APPOINTMENT RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All the directors, including independent non-executive directors, are appointed
for terms of three years. All the directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the articles of association of the

Company (the “Articles”).

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years. However, a

retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.
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RELATIONSHIPS AND ASSOCIATION AMONG THE DIRECTORS
There was no relationships between members of the Board, including financial,

business, family or other material/relevant relationships.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample continuing
professional development for the Directors for a sound and effective internal
control system and corporate governance. In this regard, the Group has always
encouraged our Directors to attend relevant training courses to receive the

latest news and knowledge regarding corporate governance.

During the Year, the Group has provided and all existing Directors have
attended at least one training course on the updates of the GEM Listing Rules
concerning good corporate governance practices. The Group will, if necessary,
provide timely and regular trainings to the Directors to ensure that they keep

abreast with the current requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Up to the date of this corporate governance report, the Company adopted a
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) from the date of Listing and
amended with effect from | January 2019. A summary of this Board Diversity
Policy, together with the measureable objectives set for implementing this Board
Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards achieving those objectives are

disclosed as below.

The Company recognised the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. The Board Diversity Policy aimed to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. In designing the Board's composition,
Board diversity has been considered from a number of measurable aspects
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services, all of which the
Company considers to be important to enhance the quality of its performance.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regards for the benefits of

diversity on the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board REAZECEEETEZENELTILEEN
Diversity Policy and recommend any proposed changes to the Board for  #{7TER  UHEMNESEENNEZRIES
approval. The Nomination Committee will from time to time review the Board ~ %t - REZE R EEERRIHFRIE
Diversity Policy as appropriate to ensure its effectiveness. FENBETICER  UHERETZEXR -

The Nomination Committee of the Board has reviewed the Board Diversity EEeE T RAZECERIESENESTT
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group achieved the — {LEUE - MHERET AN - URRAKER

Board Diversity Policy for the year ended 30 April 2021. BE_Z_-FMNA=+tHILEEREEINE
EENESTIERNER -

As at the date of this report, the diversity of Board's composition was RARERE  EEgAKZTERAT -

summarised as follow:
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BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The CG Code requires regular meeting of the Board be held at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals. Such Board meetings involve the active
participation, either in person or by telephone conference. Under code provision
A.1.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days should be given of a regular
board meeting to all Directors to give all Directors an opportunity to attend.
Certain regular Board meetings were convened with less than 14 days' notice to
enable the Board members to react timely and make expeditious decision making
in respect of transactions which were of significance to the Group's businesses.
As a result, the Board meetings were held with a shorter notice period than
required with the consent of all the Directors for that time being. The Board
will do its best endeavours to meet the requirement of code provision A.l.3 of
the CG Code in future. Adequate and appropriate information is circulated in
advance of Board meetings to the directors. During the Year, no meeting was

held between the Chairman met and the INEDs.

During the year ended 30 April 2021, five board meetings were held. The annual
general meeting of the Company was held on 30 October 2020 (the “2020
AGM").
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The attendance of the respective Directors at the Board meetings and the 2020 RERHFESEERR_S_TFREAF
AGM are set out in the table below: REWTHHFIMTE
Number of
Number of Attendance/
Attendance/ number of
number of Board
AGM' meetings'
BERB,/ BE HERE,/
BEASRE EFESERH
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Zhou Ying (Chairman) BRLE(FE) /1 115
Ms. Meng Ying hERT /] 5/5
INED BIFUTES
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond BEXEEL I/ 4/4
Mr. Tsui Chung Ho BREREE /1 4/4
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy REZHL /1 5/5
Dr. Wong Foelan BELCEL N/A 1/

Number of meetings held during the year or during the tenure of the Directors/
Board Committee members for the year (if such Director was appointed or ceased

to be a Director/Board Committee member part way during the year)

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established a number of functional committees in compliance with
the relevant GEM Listing Rules and to assist the Board to discharge its duties.
Currently, four committees have been established, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Legal Compliance
Committee. The functions and responsibilities of these committees have been
set out in the relevant terms of reference which are of no less stringent than
that stated in the Code. The relevant terms of reference of each of the three
committee can be found on the Group's website (http://www.zjuv8366.com)
and the website of the Stock Exchange. All committees have been provided with

sufficient resources and support from the Group to discharge their duties.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established on [4 October 2015 and adopted a
set of revised written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 528 to 5.33
of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraphs C3.3 and C.37 of the Code. During the
Year and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee is comprised of the

following Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond (Chairman)
(resigned on 9 March 2021)
Mr. Tsui Chung Ho
(resigned on 12 March 2021)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
(ceased to be a member on 19 July 2021)
Dr. Wong Foelan
(appointed on 26 April 2021 and resigned on 21 June 2021)
Mr. Fu Yan Ming (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Hui Man Ho lvan
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip
(appointed on 21 October 2021)

The members of the Audit Committee shall comprise INED and shall be
appointed or removed by the Board. If any member of the Audit Committee
ceases to be a Director, he will cease to be a member of the Audit Committee

automatically.

The Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at least one
of whom is an INED with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise as required under Rule 5.05(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules. In addition, all of the Audit Committee shall be INEDs.
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With reference to the terms of reference, the primary responsibilities of the
Audit Committee are, among others (for the complete terms of reference please
refer to the Group's website http://www.zjuv8366.com or the website of the

Stock Exchange):

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things, review
and supervision of the financial reporting process, risk management and internal
control policies and procedures of the Company. The Audit Committee also acts
as the communication bridge between the Board and the external auditors in
relation to the planning and scope of audit work. The appointment of members
to the Audit Committee was based on members’ breadth of experience in
various commercial sectors and professional knowledge of financial reporting and

general management.

During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Audit Committee had reviewed
the Group's consolidated financial results for the year ended 30 April 2020,
unaudited quarterly results for the three months ended 31 July 2020, interim
results for the six months ended 31 October 2020, quarterly results for the
nine months ended 31 January 2021 and discussed internal controls and financial
reporting matters. The Audit Committee had also reviewed audited annual results
for the financial year ended 30 April 2021, this annual report, and confirmed
that this annual report complies with the applicable standards, the GEM Listing
Rules, and other applicable legal requirements and that adequate disclosures
have been made. There is no disagreement between the Directors and the Audit

Committee regarding the selection and appointment of the Auditors.

The Board is of the view that the Audit Committee has properly discharged its
duties and responsibilities during the year ended 30 April 2021 and up to the
date of this report.

During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Audit Committee had held five

meetings.
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The attendance records of the members of the Audit Committee are summarised

below:

ERZBEMB ZHRCHMANT -

Number of

attendance/

number of

meetings'

HERY,

EEVS S

Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond (Chairman) BXEEL(FE) 4/4
Mr. Tsui Chung Ho BREREE 4/4
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy REZHL 5/5
Dr. Wong Foelan BELCEL [/1

Number of meetings held during the year or during the tenure of the Directors/
Board Committee members for the year (if such Director was appointed or ceased

to be a Director/Board Committee member part way during the year)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has been established on 14 October 2015 with
its terms of reference in compliance with paragraph Bl.2 of the Code. During
the Year and up to the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee is

comprised of the following members:

Mr. Tsui Chung Ho (Chairman)
(resigned on 12 March 2021)
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond
(resigned on 9 March 2021)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
Mr. Wong Foelan (Chairman)
(appointed on 26 April 2021 and resigned on 21 June 2021)

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Fu Yan Ming
(appointed on 21 October 2021)

Mr. Tsui Chun Ho, Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond, Mr. Wong Foelan, Mr. Leung
Tsun Ip and Mr. Fu Yan Ming are INEDs and Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy was an INED
for the period from May 2020 to 18 July 2021.
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With reference to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, the
primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include the followings
(for the complete terms of reference please refer to the Group's website http://

www.zjuv8366.com or the website of the Stock Exchange):

The Remuneration Committee held meetings during the Year to review the

remuneration package of the Directors.

MIBMEREEREEERDA
2021 F 8§

Corporate Governance Report
PEEARE

BEFMZEgnBE®HE  FTHEEeNE
EREORUTRE (A TROBERDE @ 5
25 A £ B B Uk http:/;www.zjuv8366.com 35 B
XML -

FHZEENAFRETEE  URTEEH
#

The attendance records of the members of the Remuneration Committee for the AEEFMEES K EMLELEHANT
Year are summarised below:
Number of
attendance/
number of
meetings'
HERY,
EEVS &
Mr. Tsui Chung Ho (Chairman) BREREE(FE) 171
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond BXEEL 11
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy REZLL 1/
Mr. Wong Foelan (Chairman) BERCAE(FE) N/A

Number of meetings held during the year or during the tenure of the Directors/
Board Committee members for the year (if such Director was appointed or ceased

to be a Director/Board Committee member part way during the year)

RAEERES BEEREEMENAFE
MERAA(HZESRAFERZERTEL
TEE/EFREERB)BITNEERY
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZEE
The Nomination Committee has been established on 14 October 2015 and the ~ ARAERTAEAL2BNRERN T —HF
Company adopted a set of revised written terms of reference in compliance TA JFIEH%&\ h%éﬁamﬂﬁﬁi{@_?ﬁ”mﬂg
with paragraph A5.2 of the Code which included changes in line with the FEERESRE  HTHERRENHe T NF—
requirements of the CG Code in January 2019. During the Year and up to the ARBEER ? 'Jfﬁmﬁﬂ"ﬁtﬂﬁﬁ“iﬂ RARE
e
=

date of this report, the Nomination Committee is comprised of the following EREZAGERN RELZEQOENTE

members: VIFHMITES
Mr. Zhou Ying (Chairman) BREE(FE)

(removed on 30 September 2021) (RZZEZ—FNA=THHER)
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond BEXEEL

(resigned on 9 March 2021) (RZB_—5F=ANHEHE)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (Chairman) BraE +¢zi(fﬁ)

(re-designated as Chairman on 30 September 2021) (% —FENA=THATARERE)
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip ?@Vﬁ%%f‘ﬁi

(appointed on 21 October 2021) (RZZ=Z—5+A=+—HEZM)
Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan FOERE

(appointed on 21 October 2021) (RZB_—F+A-+—REZE)

Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond, Mr. Leung Tsun Ip and Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan who BXEEL REXTERFELREORSE

are INEDs and Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy was an INED for the period from | May — VIFHITEERR-_T-_TFRA—HE_-F

2020 to 18 July 2021, Z—FtATN\BHE BREZLLABUHE
BITES
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With reference to the terms of reference the Nomination Committee, the

primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include the followings (for

the complete terms of reference please refer to the Group's website http://www.

zjuv8366.com or the website of the Stock Exchange):

to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's

corporate strategy;

to review the Company's board diversity policy and the progress on

achieving the objectives set for implementing the said policy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of

individuals nominated for directorships;
to assess the independence of INEDs; and

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in

particular the chairman and the chief executive.

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any proposed

candidate to the Board or reappointment of any existing member(s) of the

Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a variety of factors including

without limitation the following in assessing the suitability of the proposed

candidate:

d.

Reputation for integrity.

Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Company's business and corporate

strategy.

Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board

member and other directorships and significant commitments.
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d. Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional

experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

e. Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company's business.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and
decisive. The Nomination Committee may consider other factors so to ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company's business. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers

appropriate.

The members of the Nomination Committee should meet at least once a year.
During the year ended 30 April 2021, one meeting of the Nomination Meeting
was held and has, inter alia, reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board, assessed the independence of the INEDs and considered the Directors to
retire and stand for re-election at the 2020 AGM. The Nomination Committee
has also reviewed the board diversity policy as set out in the paragraph headed

"Board Diversity Policy” above.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting and

recommended the appointment of the new INED.
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The attendance records of the members of the Nomination Committee are

summarised below:
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REZBENEMLRCHEMANT -

Number of

attendance/

number of

meetings'

HERY,

EEVS S

Mr. Zhou Ying (Chairman) BREE(EE) 0/1
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond BXEEL 11
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy REZHL 1/
Mr. Wong Foelan BELCEL N/A

Number of meetings held during the year or during the tenure of the Directors/
Board Committee members for the year (if such Director was appointed or ceased

to be a Director/Board Committee member part way during the year)

LEGAL COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Legal Compliance Committee has been established on [4 October 2015
to review the summarised key particulars of the work-related accidents of
the construction segment which was prepared by the human resources and
administrative department. During the Year and up to the date of this report,

the Legal Compliance Committee is comprised of the following members:

Mr. Zhou Ying (Chairman)
(appointed on 19 July 2021 and removed on 30 September 2021)

Mr. Tsui Chung Ho (Chairman)
(resigned on 12 March 2021)
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond
(resigned on 9 March 2021)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
(ceased to be a member on 19 July 2021)
Dr. Wong Foelan
(appointed on 26 April 2021 and resigned on 21 June 2021)

RAEERES EEREEMENAFE
MERAA(RZESRAFERRERTEL

TEE /ESZ8EME) RITNEHEAY
TREHREEY
ARBRZZE—RF+ATHEARLERZAR
ZEEUBEBMANERRITHBARE B
ABIBEERTEFERE - RAFEREE
AREAS AEAREEGREUTELE
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BAERE(LE)
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With reference to the terms of reference of the Legal Compliance Committee,
the primary duties of the Legal Compliance Committee are to assist in overseeing
our compliance with laws and regulations relevant to our business operations
and to review the effectiveness of our regulatory compliance procedures and

system.

As the work-related accidents were punctually reported and all the accidents
are covered by insurances, it is resolved that the legal compliance committee of
the Board will be dissolved with effect from 21 October 2021. The Board will

continue to monitor the accidents on timely basis.

<)o

*Ekxffi/\%ﬁé,\ SHBESE  EZREHRZE
BEMIEREAMYERRMETEEME
BeERBNERER  URBHBEMNNEE
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During the Year, the Legal Compliance Committee held one meeting. WAFE  EZREREESRTT—REgE -
The attendance records of the members of the Legal Compliance Committee are EREREBESNENLEZSHRMT -
summarised below:
Number of
attendance/
number of
meetings'
HERY
EEVS ¢
Mr. Tsui Chung Ho (Chairman) RERLE(LE) /1
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond XEEFL 11
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy *ﬁ%z*zzt 1/
Dr. Wong Foelan HECBL N/A

Number of meetings held during the year or during the tenure of the Directors/
Board Committee members for the year (if such Director was appointed or ceased

to be a Director/Board Committee member part way during the year)

RAFERES EEZEENENEAFE
MESA(RNZEERAFERZERTEL
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Company engaged Elite Partners CPA
Limited (“Elite Partners”) as the auditors of the Company (the “Auditors™). The

remuneration paid and payable to Elite Partners (including its affiliates) is set out

HMIBEREEREEERAA
2021 F |
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1 S4B 5 A

RBE-Z-—FNA=THLEFE  ~5E
FERTGERESHMEEAERAR(RIE
BAARAINZEM(ZEM]) - EF R

as follows: AT EE(REERBEE)RNZIE 0
T
Fees paid/payable for
the services rendered
BARERECH ELER
2021 2020
—E--F —ZT-ZTF
(HK$’000) (HK$'000)
(F#&x) (F&T)
Audit services EZIR 650 530
Non-audit services IEEZIRTE 30 23
Total st 680 553
COMPANY SECRETARY ARWE

Mr. Chan Ching (“Mr. Chan”) has been appointed as the company secretary of
the Company from an external secretarial services provider with effect from |

February 2020 and resigned with effect on |5 July 2021.

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy, an executive director, has been appointed as the company

secretary of the Company with effect from 19 July 2021.

During the year ended 30 April 2021, Mr. Chan has undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM

Listing Rules.

BiatE((REED)IRBEINBEWE RBGRERME
% DEZARFDRZATME -BHZE=
ZFE-_A-BARARYAR-T-_—FtA+H
HEEHE -
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COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Ms. Meng Ying, a former executive Director, was the compliance officer of the
Group during the year and was removed on 30 September 2021, Ms. Lai Pik Chi
Peggy, an executive Director was appointed on 30 September 2021. Please refer
to the section "Biographical details of Directors and Senior Management” for her

biographical information.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledge that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against

material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities) of risk
management and internal control to the Audit Committee, who oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk

management and internal control systems.

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEMS
The risk management framework of the Group and main responsibilities of the

members in the framework are described as follows:
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Member Main Responsibilities

HE IERE

The Board ®  Set up goals for risk management strategy, assess and determine the nature and
extent of risk acceptable to achieve the strategy goals;

BEFE o FUAREERWEG HERETENREBEEEMEEASNERLE LE

Audit Committee

BZZE

8>

ER

° Establish and maintain a proper and effective risk management and internal

control systems; and

s RUNABEEAUNEREERAMEZERR K

®  Review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems

annually.

o EERVRAREBRRAFEERGOARML -

®  Assist the Board in overseeing the risk level and the design and performance of

the risk management and internal control systems;

o BHEFSERRERKT - RBEIENLABER RO R EERR

*  Discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management,
ensure the management has fulfilled its responsibility of establishing effective

systems;

o HEEEIREREEMANEERAR EREEECETBRABRVUABNESR

®  Ensure that the internal audit function has sufficient resources for operation and

has a proper position, review and supervise its performance;

o HRABEZREARHWEREE YEAEEMONM B REREKN

®*  Keep updated of various major risks confronted by the Group and the risk

management status, make decisions for effective risk control;

o E¥AKEEERNSREARRLEREERM - FHERZHEBRORE

d Report the risk status of the Group and issues to be concerned or improved to

the Board on a regular basis;

o FHRNEFCERAZENRRBMRREFBITEORE

49




50

Corporate Governance Report

ZHEJIANG UNITED INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

2021 ANNUAL REPORT

SEEARE

Member

214

=)

Main Responsibilities

IERE

Facilitate risk management and assessment, regularly appoint relevant

accountable persons to implement risk assessment;

EPRBERMFG - TERZEEBEEARTRRETE:

Organise and promote the establishment of the risk management system at the

group level;

AR HBREAEENAREERAER

Review material risk assessment report and various risk management reports;

EHNEARBRFERENEERBEERS

Review major risk management measures, rectify and deal with the decisions
made or actions adopted by relevant organizations or individuals beyond the
risk management system;

ENEARRERER  ALNEEEEASIEARBRERZGAIMELIR
RAKIETA -

Engage relevant persons to organise and coordinate various departments and
projects to carry out identification and assessment of significant risks at the
group level, summarise and analyse such information, submit risk assessment and
various risk management reports; and

*‘ﬂﬁfﬂ/\,\,E%iﬁi%ﬁww&lﬁH AR R SR BB o M) KRR a8 AT T
- WHESETELAOTNRIARFEREERRERRS &

Carry out risk management for other major issues.

HHEMBEAEEETRRER -
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THE PROCESS USED TO IDENTIFY, ASSESS AND MANAGEMENT OF BARER - SR EEEAERNER

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The risk management process of the Group is described as follows:

Risk identification
[Elbe %l

Risk analysis

Risk response

[\ e 4

Control measures

P

Risk control

=
5
B
[mss

Risk management report

RRERRS

AEBZRBEERFBMMT

identify the current risks confronted.

Al B AT E R AR ©

conduct analysis on the risk including the impact extent and possibility of

occurrence.

HYERE BN EIDETRRIT o

choose a proper risk response method and develop a risk mitigation

strategy
EREE R EY R R R SR o

propose up-to-date internal control measures and policy and process.

Fic S5 25 A 0 42 ol 4 e e PR R LA o

continuously monitor the risks identified and implement relevant internal
control measures to ensure the effective operation of the risk response
strategy.

SRR R RR R BRI A RHERIEE - HERE RS RO BN
&7

summarise results of risk assessment and analysis and internal audit,

formulate and report an action plan.

BERRFEOTRARETNER - SIETDHEBILMAER -

The Group has engaged a professional advisory firm of internal control to  ANEBREEHEMNIPELELARTHS
perform regular review of the internal control system of the Group for the year AAEEHEZE-_E-_-—FNA=THILFEHN
ended 30 April 2021 and the results were summarized and reported to the NMEIE RS URBEREATNEKEZE
Audit Committee and the Board. The Board will continue to strive for a better ~ @ RERSHfL - EHOBEERERATYE
control by way of consulting with the professional adviser and adopting the BRI W RN D FHR LA EZ - FEE TR o

recommendations made by the firm.

51




ZHEJIANG UNITED INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
2021 ANNUAL REPORT

Corporate Governance Report
EEERBE

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of the Group's
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view. The responsibility
of Auditors in respect of the Group's consolidated financial statements are set

out in the independent auditors’ report forming part of this annual report.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. The Directors are aware
that the net liabilities, loss and operating cash outflow for the year ended 30
April 2021, and the deconsolidation of the subsidiaries mentioned, which indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern as referred to C.L.3 of the CG

Code.

In respect of the material uncertainty related to going concern, the Directors
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group and
implemented some measures in order to improve the working capital, liquidity

and cash flow position of the Group, details are set out in note 2.3.

The Auditors draw attention to note 2.3 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$93.4
million during the year ended 30 April 2021 and, as of that date, the Group
had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$12.6 million
and HK$11.9 million respectively. These conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to

continue as a going concern. More information is set out in note 2.3.
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REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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For the year ended 30 April 2021, the remuneration of the senior management %@5 —FNA=+HIIFE  aHEE
is listed below by band: E%%ﬁ%\ﬁ%@lﬁ\lwﬂ

Number of
Remuneration band individuals
HMEE AE
HK$nil to HK$ 1,000,000 T ZE 1,000,000 7T 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

1,000,001 % 7T 22,000,000/ 7T I

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid individuals for the
Relevant Period as regarded to be disclosed pursuant to the Code are provided

in note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this report.

DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements and to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which reflects the true and
fair view of the state of affairs, results and cash flows of the Group and are in
compliance with the relevant accounting standards and principles, applicable laws
and disclosure provisions required of the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors are
of the view that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for each

financial year have been prepared on this basis.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there are no material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern after having considered the
loan facility. More information is set out in note 2.3, therefore the Directors
continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated

financial statements.

Statement of the Company's external Auditor’s responsibility in respect of the
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report

of this report.
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GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy to maintain
an on-going dialogue with its shareholders and investors in a timely, open and
transparent manner. The Board reviews the policy on a regular basis to ensure

effective communication between the Company, its shareholders and investors.

The Board communicates with its shareholders and investors through various
channels. The Board meets and communicates with shareholders and investors at
annual general meetings and other general meetings. Corporate communications
(such as quarterly, interim and annual reports, notices, circulars and
announcements) are sent to shareholders in a timely manner and are available

on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit,
convene an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM"). EGMs shall also be convened
on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit
of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose
of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, all reasonable expenses incurred by the
acquisition(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the

requisition(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders’ Nomination of Directors

Pursuant to article 113 of the Articles, no person, other than a retiring Director,
shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of
the intention to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged
at the head office or at the registration office of the Company. The period for
lodgment of the notices required under the Articles will commence no earlier
than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general
meeting and the minimum length of the period during which such notices to the

Company may be given will be at least 7 days.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may direct their enquiries concerning their shareholdings to the
Company's share registrars. Shareholders may also make a request for the
Company's information to the extent that such information has been made
publicly available by the Company. All written enquiries or requests may be

forwarded to the Company's head office or by email to info@zjuvholdings.com.

The addresses of the Company's head office and the Company's share registrars

can be found in the section “Corporate Information” of this annual report.
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Investor Relations REEBRE

To ensure transparent and comprehensive disclosures to investors, the Group ~ BERZEARZEMEEERZEEM @ ~5E
delivers information of the Group to the public through various channels, BLEEREMRARATBEEREENER B
including general meeting, public announcement and financial reports. The BRERE  RMERABRE - REFRAR
investors are also able to access the latest news and information of the Group AEBAL (http:/lwww.zjuv8366.com) BRI A S
via our website (http://www.zjuv8366.com). BEHESERER -

In order to maintain good and effective communication, the Company together REFREBRER  FARHEEZEHAL
with the Board extend their invitation to all shareholders and encourage them to FEEBRRLEERERTRBEAGURAE
attend the forthcoming AGM and all future general meetings. FIERRAE -

The shareholders may also forward their enquiries and suggestions in writing to BREMABATREAAADREEAEAK

the Company to the followings: BR:
Address:  Unit 511, 5/F,, Concordia Plaza, ik &
| Science Museum Road, KPBEER
Tsim Sha Tsui East, FIZEEE | 5%
Hong Kong REESZSESIE
Email:  info@zjuvholdings.com EH ©  info@zjuvholdings.com
Significant Changes in Constitutional Documents ERXHZEREN
During the year ended 30 April 2021, there was no significant changes in the BE_Z_-FMA=THLEE ARAE

constitutional documents of the Company. XM mERER -
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2021.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2015. Its registered office and principal place of
business are at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350 Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and Unit 511, 5/F, Concordia Plaza, | Science
Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Hong Kong, respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in undertaking slope works, foundation works and other

general building works in Hong Kong.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”), including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, environmental policies of the Group, compliance
with laws and regulations by the Group, its relationship with customers, suppliers,
subcontractors and employees and an indication of likely future developments in
the Group's business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 6 to 20 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this

directors’ report.

Further discussions on the Group's environmental policies and our relationship
with various stakeholders are covered by a separate Environmental, Social and
Governance report which will be available at the websites of the Company and

the Stock Exchange in due course as soon as possible.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 30 April 2021 by

operating segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group is set out

on page 188 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2021 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on

page 79.

The Board did not recommend payment of final dividend to shareholders of the

Company for the year ended 30 April 2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Group during the year ended 30 April 2021 are set out in notes I3

and 14 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 30 April 2021 are set out

in note |5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL
The Company's total issued share capital as at 30 April 2021 was 1,577,200,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company during the year ended

30 April 2021 are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

REMUNERATION POLICY

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group's emolument policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of
the Group. The remunerations of the Directors are determined with reference
to the economic situation, the market condition, the responsibilities and duties

assumed by each Director as well as their individual performance.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to the
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in the

section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable and other donation made by the Group during the year amounted to

approximately HK$235,000 (2020: HK$327,000).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As of 30 April 2021, the reserves of the Company available for distribution, as
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law Cap. 22 of Cayman Islands,
was approximately HK$nil million (2020: HK$40 million) inclusive of share

premium and retained earnings/(accumulated losses).
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 30 April 2021 and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (Compliance Officer)
(re-designated from INED to executive Director on 19 July 2021)

Mr. Choi Pun Lap
(appointed on 30 September 2021)

Mr. Zhou Ying (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(removed on 30 September 2021)

Ms. Meng Ying (Compliance Officer)
(removed on 30 September 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INED”)
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Fu Yan Ming
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond
(resigned on 9 March 2021)
Mr. Tsui Chung Ho
(resigned on 12 March 2021)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
(re-designated from INED to executive director on 19 July 2021)

Dr. Wong Foelan
(appointed on 26 April 2021 and resigned on 21 June 2021)

The Directors' biographical details are set out in the section headed “Biographical

Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

Information regarding directors’ emoluments is set out in note 12 to the

consolidated financial statements.

An annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the requirements under
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules has been received from each of the INEDs.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

All Directors have entered into service agreements with the Company for a
term commencing from their respective date of appointment. All of these service
agreements may be terminated earlier by no less than one month written notice

served by either party on the other.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three
(3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy will retire
from office as Directors at the forthcoming AGM, and being eligible, offer herself

for re-election.

Pursuant to Article |12 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after their appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip, Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan and Mr. Fu Yan Ming will retire from
office as Director at the forthcoming AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves

for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors shall also be entitled to discretionary bonus to
be determined by the Board based on, among other things, the performance
of the individual Director and the overall financial position of the Group, and is

subject to the recommendation of the remuneration committee of the Company.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

A.  Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures
As at 30 April 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meanings of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws
of Hong Kong) (the “SFO™)) which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which any such director or chief
executive is taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO) or
which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register of members of the Company, or which were required,
pursuant to standard of dealings by Directors as referred to the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as

follows:

(i) Company's shares held by a former director
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Number of
shares Percentage of
Name of former director Capacity/Nature held/interested shareholding
fris /R
BEMN
MESHS &t/ HE RO#E RERDL
Mr. Zhou Ying (former director and Interest of a controlled corporation
removed on 30 September 2021) (Note 1) 950,000,000 60.23%
BREE(ESR RELERER
RIBE-_—FAA=TEKESL) (HEE1)
Note I GETR

Mr. Zhou Ying beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of Century
Investment Holdings Limited, which wholly owns the shares in United
Financial Holdings Group Limited. Therefore, Mr. Zhou Ying is deemed or
taken to be interested in all the shares of the Company held by United
Financial Holdings Group Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

[ABEEEZEA Century Investment
Holdings Limited ) 2 &8 2 BT A -
i Century Investment Holdings Limited
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(i) The shares of associated corporations held by former director (i) FIEFEFFEHEEZERG
Number of

Name of Name of shares held/ Percentage of

former director associated corporation Capacity/Nature interested shareholding
firis/ A

MESHS HEEE SR st/ HE BZNROBE BRERDL

Mr. Zhou Ying United Financial Holdings Beneficial owner 1,000,000 100%

(former director Group Limited

(removed on

30 September

2021))
BRxE BosREBREEaRAA ERBEBA
(&=
(A=m——&h A Century Investment Interest of a controlled 100%
—LREES)) Holdings Limited corporation
Century Investment R fE kR
Holdings Limited
Note: BfsE -
Mr. Zhou Ying beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of Century EREEEREA Century Investment
Investment Holdings Limited, which wholly owns the shares in United Holdings Limited )2 &) 2 B TR AN
Financial Holdings Group Limited. Therefore, Mr. Zhou Ying is deemed or il Century Investment Holdings Limited
taken to be interested in all the shares of the Company held by United A2EEEBEeRIEREEERAL
Financial Holdings Group Limited for the purpose of the SFO. ARG - At REESFRAER
Bl AREERBARECRES
BEREEERARBENARFM
AR EERELR
(1) Long position in the Company's Shares (i) RALR R GHIIE
None of the current Directors has any shares held/interested in the BT FNAZ+HILEFE
Company for the year ended 30 April 2021 and up to the date of REEARARAIFHRTEAS - HiE
the Company's annual report. BAEERARABETARR,/

NARBRIDPFEAEE -
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 30 April 2021, the interest and short positions of the person (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) or company which
was required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under

Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FTERRREMATRERS - BERG
RERENEERAR
RZZ-Z—FWA=+H HABAL(K
RRAIEZHRSTRABRIN IR
BARBES RBEERDIE 336 RN KR
KFERN B MR8 AR
mE

B

Name Capacity/Nature

=L B/ HE

United Financial Holdings Group Limited Beneficial owner

e ERIEREEERAR ERBEEA

Century Investment Holdings Limited

Century Investment Holdings Limited RIEEE R

Interest of a controlled corporation

Number of
shares held/ Percentage of
interested shareholding

fiks/ BEER
NRHEE REEDL
950,000,000 60.23%
950,000,000 60.23%

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 April 2021, no person, other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the section "Directors’ and Chief Executives' Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had notified
the Company of an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company that was required to be recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FERFRULER
The percentages of the Group's revenue and purchases attributable to major TERPMHEREAEENKZRBENT
customers and suppliers are as follows: DHWT
2021 2020
—BC-F —TCFE
% %
Percentage of revenue: WaRBE D
From the five largest customers REAKREP 99.8 96.4
From the largest customer RERAREF 64.9 61.8
Percentage of construction material purchases BREMHBELY BREE
and construction subcontracted: B
From the five largest suppliers REARHEER 95.6 86.7
From the largest supplier REZAMER 45.8 41.1

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors, their close BESHAN BIREE HETMEAL
associates, or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of  SKEAARBRR(BESHA  BEARED
the Directors own more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company) has an BIIRGSBA LR AEERREP RS
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers. AR o
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”), pursuant to
which the Company may distribute by way of (i) cash or (ii) shares as may be
determined by the board of directors of the Company from time to time. The

profit distribution policy of the Company is:

(a)  Profit distribution policy of the Company shall achieve continuity, stability

and sustainability;

(b)  The Company targets a payout ratio with balance on distribution of profits

and profits retained for business operation and future development;

(c)  Profit distribution of the Company shall take into account:
(i)  the earnings per share of the Company;

(i) the reasonable return in investment of the investors and the
shareholders in order to provide incentive to them to continue to

support the Company in their long-term development;
(iii)  the financial conditions and business plan of the Company; and

(iv) the market sentiment and circumstances.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the related party transactions disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material interests
directly or indirectly subsisted at 30 April 2021 or at any time during the year
ended 30 April 2021.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION AND DIRECTOR’S AND OFFICERS’
LIABILITY INSURANCE

Pursuant to Article 191 of the Articles, the Directors or other officers of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which may incur in connection with the executive of their duty
provided that the indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or

dishonesty of the above persons.

The Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all
Directors and senior management of the Company. The insurance covers the
corresponding costs, charges, expenses and liabilities for legal action of corporate

activities against them.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No management contracts concerning the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 30
April 2021,

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than those disclosed under the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”
and “Directors and Chief Executive's Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures”, at no time during the year ended 30 April
2021 were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective close
associates, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body

corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company had not entered into any connected transaction during the
year ended 30 April 2021 which is required to be disclosed under the GEM
Listing Rules. Related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 30 April 2021, which constitute fully exempt continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules are disclosed in note 25

to the consolidated financial statements.
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INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors, controlling shareholders nor substantial shareholders
of the Company nor their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) had held any position or had interest in any businesses or companies that
were or might be materially competing with the business of the Group, or gave
rise to any concern regarding conflict of interests during the year ended 30 April

2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year ended 30 April
2021.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme on |5 October
2015 (the “Scheme”). The terms of the Scheme are in accordance with the

provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Scheme is to attract and retain the best available personnel,
to provide additional incentive to eligible participants and to promote the
success of the business of the Group. Eligible participants of the share option
scheme include employees (full-time and part-time), Directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners

or service providers of the Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options
granted to any participant (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the Scheme, in any |2-month period up to the date of grant shall not

exceed |% of the shares in issue.
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An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days inclusive of
the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee of an
option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for the grant of option(s) is
HK$1. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
at any time during a period as the Board may determine which shall not exceed
ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination

thereof.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified
to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option. For the purpose
of calculating the subscription price, where the Company has been listed on the
Stock Exchange for less than five business days, the new issue price shall be used

as the closing price for any business day falling within the period before listing.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing on
the date of adoption, being 15 October 2015, and shall expire at the close of
business on the business day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof

unless terminated earlier by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at |5 October 2015 (the date of conditional adoption by the
written resolutions of the then sole Shareholder passed on |5 October 2015).
On the basis of 1,440,000,000 ordinary shares in issue as at |5 October 2015,
the maximum number of ordinary shares available for issue under the Scheme is
equivalent to 144,000,000 Shares, representing 9.13% of the ordinary shares in
issue as at 30 April 2020 and as at the date of publication of the 2020 Annual
Report.
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On 23 September 2019, the Company has granted share options under the
Scheme to certain eligible grantees which, subject to acceptance by the grantees,
will enable the grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 60,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
as stated in the announcement of the Company dated 23 September 2019. The
closing price of the securities immediately before the date on which the options
were granted was HK$0.29. As at 30 April 2021, there were 60,000,000 options
(representing approximately 3.8% of the issued Shares before enlargement by
the issue of such shares) outstanding in relation to the grant of share options on

23 September 2019 under the Scheme.

No share options was granted during the year ended 30 April 2021.

Details of the share option for the Relevant Period as regarded are provided in

note 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time during the Year
was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company

or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed

any of the Company'’s listed securities during the Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of
the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a

pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
Details are set out in note 29 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this

report.

PUBLIC FLOAT
To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on information that is publicly
available to the Company, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as

of the date of this annual report as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company have been audited by Elite Partners
CPA Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
as auditor of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A
resolution for the appointment of Elite Partners as the auditor of the Company
for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited
Lai Pik Chi Peggy

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 November 2021
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elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the members of Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Zhejiang
United Investment Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 187, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 April 2021,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements and as to whether the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

All the existing executive directors of the Company were re-designated
and appointed on |9 July 2021 and 30 September 2021 and all the existing
independent non-executive directors of the Company were appointed on 2|
October 2021. The current board of directors of the Company (the “Current
Board”) was formed on 21 October 2021 after removal of Mr. Zhou Ying (“Mr.
Zhou"), a former executive director, the former chief executive officer and the
former chairman of the board of the directors of the Company, and Ms. Meng
Ying (“Ms. Meng"), a former executive director and the former compliance
officer of the Company on 30 September 2021, and re-designation of a former
independent non-executive director on |9 July 2021 and resignation of former
independent non-executive directors on 9 March 2021, 12 March 2021 and 2|
June 2021 (the “Former Board").

As disclosed in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Former
Board has been unable to contact Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng since 22 July 2021.
The Company tried to contact Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng including residence visits,
by email, by telephones and by other telecommunication means but has not

been successful.

Mr. Zhou is also the legal representative of Zhejiang Zhong Chun Wenhua Keji
Limited* CTHZERIFEBER AR (Formerly known as MITHEFE HER
727]), an direct wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC"), Zhejiang Fu Lian Zichan Guanli Limited* (i) T B2 EEE R
BIR2 7)) (“Zhejiang Fulian™), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary incorporated
in the PRC, and Zhejiang Xin Lian Hengi Tongxun Jishu Limited* (4T #TE61EE
BEBMTBRAE]), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in the

PRC (collectively referred as the “Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”).

Since Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng are the senior management and main contact
persons of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, the Company is experiencing
difficulties in reaching the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries and obtaining their
financial information for the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2021.

On 27 August 2021, the Company appointed a legal adviser (the "PRC
Legal Adviser”) to conduct investigation on the status of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng in the PRC.

* For identification purpose only
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)

The Company has been reported by the PRC Legal Adviser that the investigation

on the status of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were

completed on |3 October 2021 and the key findings are as follows:

The PRC Legal Adviser has made enquiry to the branch office of the
Hangzhou Public Security Bureau* (MMM AZRBERED D) (the
“Bureau”) and it indicated that Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were suspected of
illegal absorption of public deposits under the operation of Zhejiang United
Small and Medium Enterprises Holdings Group., Ltd* (HT)THE& /N b%E
TR =B BBRAF]), a company incorporated and operated in the PRC
of which Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng are the ultimate shareholders and not a
subsidiary within the Group, which were under a formal investigation. On
21 July 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were held in custody by the Bureau.
On 26 August 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were officially arrested by
People's Procuratorate of Gongshu District, Hangzhou in the PRC. The
Bureau has published a press release in relation to their arrest on 27
August 202 1.

The PRC Legal Adviser conducted on-site visit in September 2021 to the
registered offices and principal places of business of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries. It found that the respective registered offices and principal
places of business of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were either empty
or occupied by other parties. The PRC Legal Adviser made enquiry to
the relevant government authorities and found that no other business

addresses were registered by the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.

The PRC Legal Adviser also made enquiry to the officers of the principal
banks of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries which the officers of the
respective principal banks responded that the details and status of the
bank accounts of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries could only be accessed
by their legal representatives or their delegate. All the legal representatives
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were unable to be contacted during the

investigation.

* For identification purpose only
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)

Up to the date of this report, the Company has not received any official
documentation from the Ministry of Public Security of the PRC nor any relevant
departments of the PRC government indicating any of the Company or the
companies within the Group involved in the case that Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng

were being arrested.

The Current Board has been unable to access to the books and records of
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. In the opinion of the Current Board, the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 April
2021, which were prepared on the basis that the deconsolidation of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries was deemed to be effective on | May 2020 (the
“Deconsolidation”), presented more fairly the results, state of affairs and cash
flows of the Group as a whole in light of incomplete books and records of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. Accordingly, the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were
deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements of the Group from
I May 2020 onwards. As a result of the circumstances described above, the
directors of the Company have been unable to provide us with a complete set
of accounting books and records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. We have
therefore been unable to carry out audit procedures to obtain sufficient reliable

audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether:

(i)  the loss on the deconsolidation of subsidiaries and the release of
reserves upon deconsolidation of subsidiaries amounting to approximately
HK$23,575,000 and approximately HK$4,173,000 respectively included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2021 as well as the
related disclosures set out in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements were free from material misstatement; and

(i) the Group had lost its control over the Deconsolidation Subsidiaries.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)

Any adjustments that would be required may have a consequential effect on the
consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2021 and
the consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flow of the Group
for the year then ended and related disclosures thereof in the consolidated

financial statements.

Amounts due to directors

As disclosed in note 19(d) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded amounts due to Mr. Zhou of HK$3,262,000 and Ms. Meng
of HK$694,000 respectively as at 30 April 2021. Accordingly, as disclosed in
note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statement, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng have
been unable to be contacted since 22 July 2021. We were unable to obtain
confirmations from them to confirm the amounts due as at 30 April 2021.
Further, we were also unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
determine the rights and obligations and the completeness of the amounts due
to Mr. Zhou of HK$3,262,000 and Ms. Meng of HK$694,000 as at 30 April 2021
respectively and whether there were unrecorded transactions entered into with
Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng during the year ended 30 April 2021 which had been
accounted for and in compliance with the requirements of applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") and the Rules Governing The Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Any adjustments that would be required may have a consequential effect on the
consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2021 and
the consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flow of the Group
for the year then ended and related disclosures thereof in the consolidated

financial statements.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.3 in the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$93,360,000 and
a net operating cash outflow of approximately HK$4,804,000 for the year ended
30 April 2021 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net
liabilities of approximately HK$12,610,000 and HK$ 1,854,000 respectively as at
30 April 2021. Those conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
exists which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a

going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liabilities to any
other person for the contents of this report. However, because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an

audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other

ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
I0/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui

30 November 2021

Lock Kwong Hang, Simon

Practising Certificate Number: P06735
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ReBEmkHMEZERER
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE_Z_—4NA=-THILFE
2021 2020
—E--F —ECETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P& T TR
Revenue 1§ 5 110,123 144,816
Direct costs RN (108,666) (143,467)
Gross profit EF 1,457 1,349
Other income and other net loss H it A R E At
RS 6 1,269 (1,424)
Administrative expenses THFX (14,971) (40,804)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BIHRE AR B AR
BB 24(b) (23,575) —
Impairment loss on financial assets CHEERE 16(c), (d),
EiR 24(c) & 26.3 (57,539) (656)
Finance costs BMERAK 7 (1) (254)
Loss before taxation BRBLAIEE 8 (93,360) (41,789)
Income tax credit Pt % 9 — 170
Loss for the year FEFE (93,360) (41,619)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FEHMEZE
for the year, net of tax A/ (BA) MBRBIE
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HATHKEEN I EZE
profit or loss: BEMER :
— Exchange differences on translation of — B BINEB I
financial statements of foreign operations BERMERZH — (1,108)
— Release of reserves upon e Jin =N
deconsolidation of subsidiaries NGk 30 4,173 —
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year FEHMZEHRA
(FAx) 4,173 (1,108)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEREMXARE (89,187) (42,727)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTREREFESSE
Owners of the Company ARNEHEEA (93,360) (39,581)
Non-controlling interests TR e — (2,038)
(93,360) (41,619)
Total comprehensive expense for the year UTREREFERE
attributable to: B
Owners of the Company ANGIE 2PN (91,190) (40,724)
Non-controlling interests IR ER 2,003 (2,003)
(89,187) (42,727)
Loss per share for loss attributable to RARHEE AL HK cents 1l  HK cents #1ll
owners of the Company BRENERER I
Basic and diluted EXREE (5.92) 2.51)

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

WEREERBHRERED 8D
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A BRI R

As at 30 Apnil 2021
R-E-—FMA=+H

2021 2020
—B--F i S 33
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FasE THER FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment WE - HELE 13 756 1,327
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14 — 6
756 1,333

Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E MR 16 14,338 109,297
Contract assets BHEE 17 9,617 13,178
Tax recoverable BN Eha 21 278 343
Cash and cash equivalents RekBRaFEY 18 25,183 37,408
49,416 160,226

Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTIE 19 61,992 83,670
Lease liabilities ME&E 20 — 4
Tax payable PRI 21 34 552

62,026 84,226
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B AR &

As at 30 April 2021

R-E-—#mA=+A

2021 2020

b Stk 3 —TCFE

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

Pl % TERr TET

Net current (liabilities)/assets wE(RE) EEFE (12,610) 76,000

Net (liabilities)/assets () EEFE (11,854) 77,333
Capital and reserves BRA R

Share capital R 22 15,772 15,772

Reserves G (27,626) 63,564

Equity attributable to owners of the Company RAEHEEARLRES (11,854) 79,336

Non-controlling interests R ER — (2,003)

Total equity ERAH (11,854) 77333

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by — HAHBHEZR-_E-—F1+—H=+HEZE

the board of directors on 30 November 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: FENERRENE UBTHEEAXZE
g :
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy Mr. Choi Pun Lap REZ 4t BRI L4
Director Director EF EF

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. M REa B BHREET—#5 -




82

ZHEJIANG UNITED INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

2021 ANNUAL REPORT

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 Apr\l 2021
BE" T SNA=tHIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ELARAAERE
Share- Retained
based earnings/ Non-
Share Share payment Merger  Exchange (accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium’ reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ losses)”  Sub-total interests Total equity
HRH A
BN RERA/
Bk REE*  AREE AHEE  EXRE (RHBRN Mt FERERE  BEAR
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TER FiEn TR ThT TR THR TR TER TR
(note 22) (note a) (note b) (note ¢)
(& 22) (W) (W&ED) (W)
Asat | May 2019 RZE-NERA-H 14400 24457 - 18,001 (1,027) 70! 63,052 - 63,052
Loss for the year EEFE - - - - — (9581 (39581 (2038) (41619
Other comprehensive expense  FEHM2EEY
for the year
- Exchange differences on - BERINEHE
translating foreign operations EREE - - - - (1,143) - (1,143) 35 (1,108)
Total comprehensive expense ERRARARAE
for the year - - - - (1143) (39,581) (40,724) (2,003) (42,727)
Placing of new shares REHRR 1372 48,706 - - - - 50,078 - 50,078
Share issuing expenses RIAETHR - (1,032) - - - - (1032) - (1032)
Equity-settled share-based payment  ARIEEE AR (A 2
EROHR - - 7962 - - - 7962 - 7962
As at 30 April 2020 and RZE-TEMA=1H
| May 2020 :?:giﬂﬂ—ﬁ 15772 72,131 7962 8,001 (2,170) (32,360) 79336 (2,003) 71333
Loss for the year EEFE - = = = — (93360)  (93,360) — (93,360)
Other comprehensive expense  FEEMZERY
for the year
~ Release of reserves upon -BHEA NEMBAT
deconsolidation of subsidiaries 4 BHFE - - - - 2170 - 2,170 2,003 4173
Total comprehensive expense ERRERLE
for the year - - - - 2,170 (93,360) (91,190) 2,003 (89,187)
At 30 April 2021 R-Z--f£MA=1H 15772 72,131 7,962 18,001 —  (125720) (11,854) - (11,854)
* The total amounts of these balances represent “Reserves” in the consolidated * DEERERERAMBRART A F#E] -

statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Share-based payment reserve represents the fair value of services estimated to be
received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share options over the relevant
vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair value of the share options at
grant date. The amount for each period is determined by spreading the fair value
of the share options over the relevant vesting period (if any) and is recognised as
staff costs and related expenses with a corresponding increase in the share-based

payment reserve.

Merger reserve represents the difference between the share capital issued by the
Company for acquisition of the subsidiaries pursuant to a reorganisation for the
listing and the aggregate capital of the subsidiaries being acquired at the time of the

reorganisation.

Exchange reserve represents exchange differences relating to the translation of the
net assets of the Group's foreign operations from their functional currencies to the
Group's presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollar (“HK$")) and are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve.
Such exchange differences accumulated in the exchange reserve are reclassified to

profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.

B

REERSBR

For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

NERDAERONREEERNEREESEA
R ERBREARR A BRERENA
T HEBRDREBRERRHAHNA
FEFE - ZSHENERNEBRBRER
FTERERSBH(NE)NELET - L
RIEBTAARBRAX - MAKRDAER
MR B IEARREIE AN

AHRBRERE LMETNEARARRY
BHEBRAERHTHRARNSAR KR
WEARMBERZRMES -

EHGEESIEEGIEENFEAENE
NEERBREAREENZREE(RAET
(BT RANEL =R EZREH2ER
HHER YRHEELGE - RELGER
THNZEEAEERLE RN EBRERS
BEB#H -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 30 April 2021
BE" T SNA=tHIFE

<)o

2021 2020
“BC-F —TCEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Uik TERT FET
Operating activities REED
Loss before taxation BRI E 1B (93,360) (41,789)
Adjustments for: HE:
Interest income FLEBA - (163)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment H&E#%¥ - BiFE &EEEE [ —
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment mE - BEREEOTE 575 695
Depreciation of right-of-use asset ERREENTE 6 3,794
Finance costs BMERAK [ 254
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BitEe ARNBARMNER 23,575 —
Gain on early termination of lease AR IEAE M — (93)
Written off of property, plant and equipment WEME - BELRE — 652
Equity settled share-based payment expenses PARRBEEE AR D AR R - 7,962
Impairment on trade and other receivables B 5 REMERFIERE 13,687 522
Impairment loss on contract assets BHNEENMRERE (36) 134
Impairment loss on an amount due from e — & AR & ABRROM B 2 B FIE
a deconsolidated subsidiary EREL 5! 43,888 —
Operating cash flows before movements LEBREPANLLERONE
in working capital (11,663) (28,032)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables B 5 Rk E B IER D,/ (3E10) 11,606 (35,629)
Decrease in contract assets BREERD 3,597 9,874
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables B REMERFECRD), /12 (7,891) 12,173
Decrease in contract liabilities aHaERD — (2,490)
Cash used in operations REmARE (4,351) (44,104)
Income tax (paid)/refunded, net (BR)/REFMEH 54 (453) 999
Net cash used in operating activities B TR 2T (4,804) (43,105)
Investing activities REED
Interest received B8 — 163
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEMX  BEL&RE (16) (894)
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of BitEe ARRBAREENR
subsidiaries pifsebEck: 24 (433) -
Net cash used in investing activities REZE AR FE (449) (731)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

,.-/TAEEE/JILE%

For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

2021 2020
:g: _$ — 7 —= ¢
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Uik TER FET
Financing activities MEER
Advance from/(repayment) to directors REEENRH, MEE(EK) S/ (784)
(Repayment to)/loan from a director of M-HRBAR—REZ(EHR),/

a subsidiary RE—FENBAR—BEENER (10,700) 700
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE (4) (3,728)
Interest paid REREAFE) (1 (254)
Proceeds from placing of shares ALE MR M PA1STIE — 49,046
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEZE () Frizhs FE

financing activities (6,972) 44,980
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERRESEN(RD) EmEE

cash equivalents (12,225) [, 144
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEXZEFE - 2,582
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FORERREEFED

of year 37,408 33,682
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year EXAERALEEY

represented by cash and cash equivalents B e KRS EEY 25,183 37,408
The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. M REae M BREER -85 -
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For the year ended 30 April 2021

BE-E-—4SMA=+AILEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2015 as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares have been listed on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange")
on 2 November 2015. Its immediate and ultimate holding companies are
United Financial Holdings Group Limited (“United Financial Holdings") and
Century Investment Holdings Limited (“Century Investment”), respectively.
United Financial Holdings was incorporated in Hong Kong and holds
60.23% of issued shares of the Company. United Financial Holdings is
100% owned by Century Investment, a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands and is wholly owned by Mr. Zhou Ying (“Mr. Zhou") (the
“Controlling Shareholder™).

The addresses of the registered office and the principal place of business of
the Company are Unit 511, 5/F Concordia Plaza, | Science Museum Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui East, Hong Kong. The Company is an investment holding
company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in undertaking slope works, foundation works and other general

building works in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar ("HK$"), which is the functional currency of the Company and
its subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands

("HK$'000"), except when otherwise indicated.

<)o

—REH

HMIBAREEREEFRAR(AR
ANR_ZE-hFRA-THEREH
SHAMARLA—HERRERAF - KU
REBRHER-_Z-RFE+-—AZRE
ERMARZRARRR ([ GEM
e AR RERERDE D5 A
AEeREREEARAA(HAE S RE
B 1) & Century Investment Holdings Limited
([ Century Investment]) © B & & Bl 15 Ik
REBEMAL  HFEARADETR
3 #96023% B & & Bl % IR A Century
Investment# 7B 100%% % ' Century
Investment & 1A 1 € B & sl X L 89 A
A pEAARE(EEE D (TERRER])
TEBR -

ARREMPEREREELE MM
WRREBRPERNERE | FEER
BIG5E5 - ARA B —THREER
AR ARAIRAEMBAR (GBI A&
BNFEERBAENSE IR WET
BREM—REETE -

GaMBHRRUBT(ET)2S &
TRARELAMBLARZHEEH -
MEAERAIN MESEINEER
BEOTA(TET) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

22

Statement of compliance

These annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA") and the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules™).

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the

historical cost basis.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment

of Assets.

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
BET-—FMA=THIFE

2. EXRSHHRHE

2.1

2.2

EREH
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HMB BB REE (BB
BREEADARBBRREHR
BIGE - A REMERES
N B ) i A 5% BB AR TE R B 32 P
GEM#E 7 £ AI([GEM L 3
BIDMERRE#RT -
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FAMBRRDRESL K AEER
8.

ELRA—REBEAREE R KR
BARRENATFENET -

RHEREMHLEE RN E
RETHEFRZTHEHEE
PR BB — BB IHE
1 BR%EREERBRING
RERFRBEMBERMELOM
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B ERE - FIARE @ 5B
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For the year ended 30 April 2021

BEZZ——

FMA=THILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

22

23

Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level |, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its

entirety, which are described as follows:

®  Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at

the measurement date;

N Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level |, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

d Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$93,360,000 and
a net operating cash outflow of approximately HK$4,804,000 for the
year ended 30 April 2021 and, as of that date, the Group had net
current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$12,610,000
and HK$11,854,000 respectively. Those conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty exists which may cast significant

doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

EXSHBRBE S

22

23

RREE(Z)

s BB BEHREM S - APER
EDRF R F-_RIE=R
LERR 2 8D REBERTEE
HWEAREA BRIZE RBARE
HATEAENEBSEEN  Fit
mE

o BRBARBEERE
ERHAURENERE
EFABERNERMSHNRE
(RERE)

o BRBARBNE-RA
HREMN REERARE
ERIRRABRNBAL
B R

o BZRBARBHEERA
BN ARG ARE -

BECEEE
AEERBE-_T-_—FNA
STELEFESGEERFEN
93,360,000 7T K #14,804,000 %
THRERS R FE  RR%Z
AASESBEERBEBERE
K B fEF 49126100005 T &
11,854000 7T « ZFBERBETF
HEATHTY ey B
ERECe hEEEARM -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

23

Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) adopted the going
concern basis in the preparation of consolidated financial statements
and implemented the following measures in order to improve the

working capital and liquidity and cash flow position of the Group:

(1) Loan facility provided by independent financial institution

On 27 October 2021, the Company has entered into a loan
facility agreement with an independent financial institution to
provide up to HK$17,000,000 which is unsecured, repayable

on 30 November 2022 and interest bearing at 12% per annual.

(2)  Alternative source of funding

The Group is actively considering to raise new capital by
carrying out fund raising activities including but not limited up
to rights issue, open offer, placing of new shares and issuance

of convertible note.

(3)  Various cost control measures

The Directors plan to improve the Group's financial
performance by taking steps to reduce discretionary expenses

and administrative costs.

In the opinion of the Directors, in light of the various measures/
arrangements implemented, the Group will have sufficient working
capital for its current requirements and it is reasonable to expect
the Group to remain a commercially viable concern. Accordingly,
the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the

consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going
concern, it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its

liabilities in the normal course of business.

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
BET-—FMA=THIFE

2. EXRSHERBE®)

23
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For the year ended 30 April 2021

=

BEZZ——

2.

FMA=THILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

23

24

Going concern basis (Continued)

Adjustments would have to be made to write down the value of
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any future
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively. The effect
of these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated

financial statements.

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

All the existing executive directors of the Company were re-
designated and appointed on 19 July 2021 and 30 September 2021
and all the existing independent non-executive directors of the
Company were appointed on 21 October 2021. The current board
of directors of the Company (the “Current Board” or the “Board")
was formed on 2| October 2021 after removing Mr. Zhou, a former
executive director, the former chief executive officer and the former
chairman of the board of the directors of the Company, and Ms.
Meng Ying (“Ms. Meng"), a former executive director and the former
compliance officer of the Company on 30 September 2021, and re-
designation and resignation of former independent non-executive

directors (the "Former Board").

The Former Board has been unable to contact Mr. Zhou and Ms.
Meng since 22 July 2021. The Company tried to contact Mr. Zhou
and Ms. Meng including residence visits, by email, by telephones and

by other telecommunication means but has not been successful.

* For identification purpose only

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)

Mr. Zhou is also the legal representative of Zhejiang Zhong Chun
Wenhua Keji Limited* (HIHZXERIZRBR AR (Formerly
known as ATIFFEZHER AT (“Zhejiang Zhong Chun"), a
direct wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in the People's Republic
of China (the "PRC"), Zhejiang Fu Lian Zichan Guanli Limited*
(MIgEEEEEABRAA) ("Zhejiang Fulian”), an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in the PRC and Zhejiang
Xin Lian Hengi Tongxun Jishu Limited* (4 T#TE 18 EimaARM
B AR ("Zhejiang Xinlian"), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary incorporated in the PRC (collectively referred as the

"Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”).

Since Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng are the senior management and main
contact persons of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, the Company is
experiencing difficulties in reaching the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries,
for obtaining their latest financial information for the purpose of
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 30 April 2021.

* For identification purpose only

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnl 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE
ERSHHRBES)
24 RIEGEARZHEBAR(E)
BRETATTHERRARRA
(FRMITFE2ERAR)(DIHTF
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For the year ended 30 April 2021

BE-E-—4SMA=+AILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. EBEAEHBRBE#E)
24 Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued) 24 RARUEGEARMBAR(E)
On 27 August 2021, the Company has appointed legal adviser (the RZE_—FA\AZ++tH AR
"PRC Legal Adviser”) to conduct investigation work on the status of ARREERBER(THEEER
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng in the PRC. ARELGE ARNEAR] -

BAREREXTRTFEOERET
RBETE-

The Company has been reported by the PRC Legal Adviser that the FEEZERRAARRREHER

investigation on the status of the Deconsolidation Subsidiaries. Mr. RSt ATZATRERIE

Zhou and Ms. Meng were completed on |3 October 2021 and the e NERHBAR - AtERE

key findings are as follows: RIMBRAETIE - TEESH
RIE

) PEEEBERCSEANMND
ARERHEERHSBILZ
B EXH BEHEAL
ERAZXTHEELENIHE
ROPEEREEERAA
(I AR/ PNEE (-
IR Bl AR AL A 8
NERERERLRRER
REVRE] - WIEAKE AR
BLR)BRSRIEERK

the Group), which were under a formal investigation. On 21 \
AEFEF-—RIURRE - ©

July 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were held in custody by
“E-EEAT-R

the Bureau. On 26 August 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng - N
AEBHARER AR LHE

THE - R-TE-—FNA
“tARE AEERRZT
WHEMMTHRHER ARR
RiEEREHE - RRBER
ZEZ -/ \AZt+tB%
iR At S HES ik

) The PRC Legal Adviser has made enquiry to the branch office
of the Hangzhou Public Security Bureau* (fTMNTH A% FHE
[& %3 /®) (the “Bureau”) and it indicated that Mr. Zhou and Ms.
Meng were suspected of illegal absorption of public deposits
under the operation of Zhejiang United Small and Medium
Enterprises Holdings Group., Ltd* (T)LH& R/ NEEERE
EHBR AR ("Zhejiang United SME"), a company incorporated
and operated in the PRC of which by Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng

are the ultimate shareholders and not a subsidiary within

were officially arrested by People’s Procuratorate of Gongshu
District, Hangzhou in the PRC. The Bureau has published a

press release in relation to their arrest on 27 August 2021.

* For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
24  Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)
2)  The PRC Legal Adviser conducted on-site visit in September
2021 to the registered offices and principal places of business
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. It found that the respective
registered offices and principal places of business of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were either empty or occupied
by other parties. The PRC Legal Adviser made enquiry to
the relevant government authorities and found that no other
business addresses were registered by the Deconsolidated

Subsidiaries.

3)  The PRC Legal Adviser also made enquiry to the officers of
the principal banks of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries which
the officers of the respective principal banks responded
that the details and status of the bank accounts of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries could only be accessed by
their legal representatives or their delegate. All the legal
representatives of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were unable

to be contacted during the investigation.

Up to the date of this report, the Company has not received any
official documentation from the Ministry of Public Security of the
PRC nor any relevant departments from the PRC government
indicating any of the Company or the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
are involved in the case that Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were being

arrested.

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnl 2021
BET-—FMA=THIFE
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

25

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)

The Company has been unable to access the books and records of
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries for the purpose of preparing the
consolidated financial statement for the year ended 30 April 2021.
The Directors concluded that the Group lost the control of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries and deconsolidated the Deconsolidated

Subsidiaries with effective on | May 2020.

The management are of the view that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 April 202
were prepared on the basis that the deconsolidation of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries was deemed to be effective on | May
2020 (“Deconsolidated”), presented more fairly the results, state of
affairs and cash flows of the Group as a whole in light of incomplete

books and records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.

Further details of the Deconsolidation are set out in note 24 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company

and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

®  has power over the investee;

® is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

®  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

25

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of

the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group

ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if

this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's

accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets

of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

26

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that

is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Depreciation on other assets is provided to write off the cost less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the

straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery 30%
Motor vehicles 30%
Leasehold improvements 25%
Furniture and fixtures 20%

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and estimated
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of

each reporting period.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount

of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss

during the financial period in which they are incurred.

2.

EXSHBRBE S

26

nE - BERRE

ME - B RREIRRAR R
ELREBEAR - KABREE
BEENBEREGX -

HinBEFERAE I ERFH
B SEM SRR A R A B (E S
B MRAERDT

TR R os 30%
AE 30%
MEMEEE 25%
BMKETERE 20%

BENFSER  HEHNERAS
A FRFERRERE PR KA
B(@EA) -

BERIHERELNHRGNERR
HEMBTRREERBERNE
BET - LRERER o

AR AMEREIR B MBROR TR E
MERERAREE MM St
ERAMKAR - TEEFEFERLT
AANEEREEIERRBLE
B - BIRE D M IREER LR o
BELRESAAEMRAS - HR
ELNRBHEE RSN -



@

MIBMEREEREEERDA

2021 F 3|

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

27

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in

exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS [6 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components, including
contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building components,

unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects
that the effects on the consolidated financial statements would not

differ materially from individual leases within the portfolio.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

27

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of office premises that have a lease term of |2 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on

a straight-line basis.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
®  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

®  any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the

lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

27

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is

not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance

fixed payments).

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) when the lease term
has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise
of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a

revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a

revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by

making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

28

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to

determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable mount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (the “CGU") to

which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual CGU, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of CGU for which a reasonable and

consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the

estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

28

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of the assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no Impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a settlement date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by

regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
I5. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial

liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount

on initial recognition.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

®  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, contract assets and bank balances, which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since

initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the

reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances and/or collectively using a provision

matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to [2m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of
the reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information

that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account

when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

® an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

®  significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,

the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

®  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its

debt obligations;

® an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor; or
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

® an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and

supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in

credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,

including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more

appropriate.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. EXSHBEBESE)
2.9  Financial instruments (Continued) 29 S@MIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) tREE(Z)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) CEREERE(E)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (iy FERESHREE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events CRMEEE—BRULEH

that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash (HZemEEGTAKR

flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a TREBKINEE)EE

financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about BHEECERE - 2REE

the following events: HREEHENSREER
ARTIESE:0RIE 4 6

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the (@ BITAXBRANE
borrower; KA TR E -

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; (b) ERAH(WMELSLE

HEMH)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or (0 BRANEFARE
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's financial : /\ﬁﬁﬁ%liﬂﬁ@az
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) ERAKIEAMmM
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or ERAREER(EE

ERTATER)
gk

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter (d) AR A BERE AT

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. ERHEMIBEA -
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries

are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks

of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. EXSHBEBESE)
2.9  Financial instruments (Continued) 29 S@MIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) tREE(E)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EREEREE)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) v) FERERBEHEEERE
(&

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may
not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on

the following basis:

o Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

®  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit

risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on

amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amounts, with the exception of trade receivables and contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is recognised

through a loss allowance account.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or

loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equrty instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

2.10

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (including trade and
other payables, amount due to a director and lease liabilities/finance
lease liabilities) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using

the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation
can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle

the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and

adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets (Continued)

211

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future uncertain events not wholly within
the control of the Group, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Probable inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet
meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered contingent

assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services underlying

the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a service that is distinct or a

series of distinct services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the

relevant performance obligation.

* the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group

performs;

*  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or

* the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable

right to payment for performance completed to date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

211

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of

time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the

customer.

Construction contracts
Revenue mainly arises from the provision of performing slope works

and foundation works in Hong Kong.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a

5-step process:

[ Identifying the contract with a customer

2. |dentifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are

satisfied
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

211

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract

excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue from construction contracts are recognised over time as
the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the

customer controls.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract, that best depict the

Group's performance in transferring control of services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled
using either (a) the expected value method or (b) the most likely
amount, depending on which method better predicts the amount of

consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that
such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal
in the future when the uncertainty associated with the variable

consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment of
whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to
represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the
reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the

reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.12  Employee benefits

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined

contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of
its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’

basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
employees render services during the year. The Group's obligations
under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage contributions

payable.

The employees of the Company's subsidiaries which operate in the
People's Republic of China (the “PRC") are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable

in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to

the end of the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and

maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

e MR HmAR MG
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in

terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit

or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group's operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive expense and accumulated in equity under the

heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified

to profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.14

2.15

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity

instruments at the grant date.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit

or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share-based payment reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred to

accumulated losses.
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2.

FMA=THILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.16

Income taxes
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting

profit.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.16

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or

part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same

taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
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2.

FMA=THILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Government grant

2.18

2.19

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching

to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become

receivable.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM")
for their decisions about resources allocation to the Group's
business components for their review of the performance of those

components.

Related parties
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a party

is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family

and if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over of the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. EXSHBEBESE)
2.19 Related parties (Continued) 219 B¥®A(E)
(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions b)) BZATREBATAUTHE
applies: A {ete -
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEBRAREARR
group; —&ENKE AT
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy ZEBAEMER(L
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a AZEMEREMEBES
group of which the other entity is a member); B EARIMEBE R
AR ERE) kS
ARHAERE
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same (il ZEBRAEEAR
third party; —B-AMEED
¥
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy —HEBRXE=7H
other entity is an associate of the third entity; EENEGECE M
S—ERRAE=ZF
ERmBE T
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the () HEBBASEINH
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity AEBEHBEBNER
related to the Group (if the Group is itself such a plan) (W AEEAZ AL
and the sponsoring employers are also related to the HE)ARE MR
Group; MR R R
EPETINEAEE
AR
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) ZEBBR—BRN(RE
identified in (a); A LEH g ER

Pl
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the

Group or to the parent of the Group.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless of

whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person

in their dealings with the entity.
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BE-T-—EMA=TALEE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSS 3. EBRFMIREBIEEMBHRSE
Al
3. New and amendments to HKFRSs that are effective for the current year 3. EKEELEMNFTTRLEITERH
BREER
In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to RASE  AREREAERES
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards IR ASERUYRN S -_TFH
and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA A—H sz &R EE RS
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual EMR BB RS ER S SE
period beginning on or after | May 2020 for the preparation of the EMRAMBII AR TEEBIE
consolidated financial statements: B BREER - NRBUR AT
e
Amendments to HKAS | and Definition of Material BB e EL BANTE
HKAS 8 FIRRER
SEHERIFSSE
CHES
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business EARMEWMEER 2HENTE
F3% (BFIR)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark EAMBREER FXREE
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform F9% - BB HE
SETERIE39% K
BB B IwEER
F7% (BIIR)
The application of the Amendments to References to the AEERAR B EREEN B
Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs and the amendments to HKFRSs SERMIBMAIBIANEETE
in the current year had no material impact on the Group's financial B EREEREAEBRAREE
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on LBAEEZHBEIRARFREAR/
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements. SN ZEG AU BBRROBELD

BEAVE -
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BE-E-—4SMA=+AILEE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSS
(Continued)

3.1

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS | and HKAS 8
Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS | and HKAS 8 for
the first time in the current year. The amendments provide a new
definition of material that states“information is material if omitting,
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which
provide financial information about a specific reporting entity."The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or
magnitude of information, either individually or in combination with
other information, in the context of the financial statements taken as

a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a
Business

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments clarify that while businesses usually
have outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated set of
activities and assets to qualify as a business. To be considered
a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together

significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes
and continuing to produce outputs. The amendments also introduce
additional guidance that helps to determine whether a substantive

process has been acquired.

3.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSS
(Continued)

3.1

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are effective for the current year
(Continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a

Business (Continued)

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional concentration
test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. Under the optional
concentration test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from
the effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether to
apply the optional concentration test is available on transaction-by-

transaction basis.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments modify specific hedge accounting
requirements to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected
hedges during the period of uncertainty before the hedged items or
hedging instruments affected by the current interest rate benchmarks
are amended as a result of the ongoing interest rate benchmark
reform. The amendments are relevant to the Group given that it

applies hedge accounting to its benchmark interest rate exposures.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

e MWK

For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSS 3. ERHIIRKBIEBNBEEREE

(Continued) Bl(#)
3.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective 32 EEMAEMRERNTITEEHE
BEEARBITX

AREEWETAEAUTEBMHE
R R A R T & 8 B A 4R

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

RIEFTA -
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related ERMRSER RBAGTREBT
Amendments! ERVE
Amendment to HKFRS |6 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions* EABREER Covid-19EER AL RS
# 165 (831K
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions SR L R “E--EXA=THZE
beyond 30 June 2021¢ Z 165k (1B3TE) Covid- 19 RBMB SRS
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual ERMRSER S ERMRM?
Framework? 3% (BITX)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform DRYBREEREIR . RIREENE-FE-RRS
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, — Phase 2° BB ERE9%
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 BEMRREER
7% BARBRE
EREARRBBRE

REERE 165 (B3TE)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BENBREELZ 0% REEEHBENT
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its RABEIENE18F REEhE LA
Associate or Joint Venture’ (B3] K) BELEFTAS

Amendments to HKAS | Classification of Liabilities as BEEHENE 15 BREMEARE
Current or Non-current and (B3TAR) ERBREERE

related amendments to Hong Kong

F55 (=5 -%F)

Interpretation 5 (2020)' BB
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to Assets BRETERNE % HE-QFEENEER
and Liabilities arising from a Single (B3TR) AEEBNMELRIB!
Transaction'
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment EESHENE 165 0% BERRE: BT

— Proceeds before Intended Use? (B3] K) BAH 7 FriEauE?
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts BEEEDE % EEEAN-BIAN
— Cost of Fulfilling a Contract? (fB3TA) IR
Amendments to HKAS | Disclosure of Accounting Policies' BRETENE 1 HR SHHERE
and HKFRS Practice BANBRELAER
Statement 2 BELL1R(ETE)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates' BEEHERE S SIHEHTEE
(B3TR)
Amendments to Annual Improvements to BAR RS LR L] BANBREE]

HKFRS Standards

HKFRS Standards 2018-20262

“E-\FRE-ZC-RE
ZEEME



."‘ FIMAREZREMERA D
2021 4 3§

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RS R R M R

For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
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3.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSS 3. ERAFIIRKBISEMEHREE

(Continued) Blc#)
3.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued) 32 ERMGENRENNHITEBHHE
EERRBITAR(E)
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January ' RZZEZ=F—-A—H"%Z
2023. &I FREHREN
E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January : RZZE__F—-A—H¥x
2022. BFG 2 FRAREAER -
: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be : REFFEE 2 BB %H
determined. ﬁAZEFHﬂFﬁEEW °
# Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | June 2020. ! ZETFRA-H¥EZ
féﬁﬂﬂéZﬁfEﬁﬁF‘aﬁ&& °
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January g RZZE_—F—A—H¥x
2021. BFG 2 FREAER -
. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | April 2021. ¢ RZZE-Z—FMA—HBHZ
1&Fh 2 FEBREAMY -
The Directors anticipate that the application of new and amendments BRI BB ER
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial BREEUB I SHARER G

statements in the foreseeable future. EUBBRBEEATE -
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4.

FMA=THILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The

resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related

actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk

of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

@)

Revenue recognition for construction contract

The management recognise revenue from construction contract
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurement of the value of construction work transferred
to the customer to date relative to the remaining construction
works promised to be completed under the construction contract.
Most construction works take years to complete and the scope
of work may change during the construction period. Management
estimate the revenue and budgeted costs at the commencement
of the construction contracts and regularly assess the progress of
construction works as well as the financial impact of scope changes,
claims, disputes and liquidation damages. The management's estimate
of revenue and the completion status of construction works requires
significant judgement and has a significant impact on the amount and
timing of revenue recognised. The construction works performed by
the Group would be certified by the independent quantity surveyors
appointed by the customers periodically. The Group regularly
reviews and revises the estimation of contract revenue prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progresses based on the
internal construction progress reports and the certification issued by

the independent quantity surveyors.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Estimation of impairment of trade and other receivables, contract assets
and other financial assets

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including
trade and other receivables, contract assets and bank balances)
based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgment in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group's
past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period as set out in note 2.9.
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and contract
assets at the end of the reporting period is set out in notes |6 and

|7 to the consolidated financial statements.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

4.

5.

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

FEEEE R 2

(b)

BESREMERTIE  GHEER
HitreMEEGRE

AEBUHIRNEBEHEEFERN
BE(BEES RAMBKFE -
BRNEERBIER)ENERE
KRG R FEREER 2 BRI R
o REWERR  AEEREH
BEESE - BETRRATEMERS
i BREEEZERAREE
BETE 2 BASE (T2
) RBEHREFIREMER
HERENEENERBESNGE
I RERME 16 %17

W@k HBEH
REERFRBRHRENT -

2021 2020
—E--F —ZTCTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FAT

Types of service PR % % 51
Slope works R TR 110,029 134,631
Foundation works WHRTE 94 10,185
Revenue from contracts with customers BPA M= 110,123 144,816
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WRRIBERE)
2021 2020
—E--F —TTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THT FHT
Timing of recognition revenue T R Uk 2 Y By P

Over time B ] 110,123 144,816

Remaining performance obligations BTEBNER

The following table includes revenue expected to be recognised in the
future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially

unsatisfied) as at 30 April 2021 and 2020:

TREJNEHAREREANR T ——
ER-_Z_TFMA=1THHARET(HK
BoWAKREIT) ZEHETRHMRE -

2021 2020
—BE--F —ZT-ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THRT
Remaining performance obligations BEH-FREITZHRTBROALE
expected to be satisfied within | year 55,840 121,471

Segment information

The Group has determined the operating segments based on the
information reported to the CODM. During the year, the CODM regards
the Group's business of performing slope works and foundation works
in Hong Kong as a single operating segment and assesses the operating
performance and allocates the resources of the Group as a whole.

Accordingly, no segment information is presented.

2 EEH
AEEEEARNAEIELERREZHRN
BHETKEDH - FR TERLR
RERAEERBBETRRIRERL
ETROEBA/E-GEDH  LF
BEERRRNEASEERER - B
t - WE2 AN HER -



.‘ FIBARELREMERA T 13]
2021 F 8|

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RS R R M R

For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021

BE-T-—EMA=TALEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WRRIBERE)
Geographical information HEER
No separate analysis of segment information by geographical segment is AR AEENNERERDEETEE
presented as the Group's revenue and non-current assets are principally RE—MERFHEANES)  HITEE R
attributable to a single geographical region, which is Hong Kong. BB S EHE 5 R DB E R DT o
Information about major customers EBRIZEFMNER
Revenue from each of the major customers, which amounted to 10% or REEFERPUAREEAKE 10%3K
more of the Group’s total revenue, is set out below: LA B )RS #EAIIT
2021 2020
—BC-F —TCFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
Customer A EPA 71,432 89,564
Customer B ZFB 15,856 19,633
Customer C BPC 14,779 N/A TE A
Customer D ZPD N/A T3 R 21,491
N/A: Revenue from the customer during the year did not contribute 0% TER  FREREZZPHBET A
or more of the Group's revenue. B 10% °
Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% or more to BEXHBEEEN  BEEMEERW
the Group's revenue for both years. EEEANRREEER 10%3k A Lr)

Ny
o
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6. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET LOSS 6. HttAREMERFHE
2021 2020
—E-—-& —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER
Other income Hitrg A
Bank interest income ITH KA — 163
Government grants (Note) BT AL (F3E) 1,270 -
Sundry income LI N 1,014
1,270 1,177
Other net loss Hin5EEHE
Exchange difference, net BHERFE = (2,694)
Gain on early termination of lease RAKLIEREN S — 93
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME - BE K
and equipment REHEE (1) -
(N (2,601)
1,269 (1,424)
Note: During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Group recognised COVID- Mz RBEE T -_—FMA=THILFE
|9-related government grants of approximately HK$1,270,000 related B NEERRMBEBRHTHE
to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Special BRMEESRENERET RS
Administrative Region Government under the Anti-Epidemic Fund. There are 1BREIR) COVID-19 HE B BT B A &
no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts of #71270,00078 7T © BLUCER ZFH LR
those subsidies. BmEAREK SR E MK AZIE
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BEME
2021 2020
—R-—F b e S5
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET

Interest on lease liabilities HESEMNE

254
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8.  LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8. KRBiAIEIE

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BRABED IR GIAATEER

2021 2020
—E--F —ZTCTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET
(a)  Staff costs (including directors’ @) BIRK(EEESHH
emoluments (note 12(a)) (MEE 12(a)))
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IERHMEF 7,064 6,194
Retirement benefit schemes contribution RINBAIGT 2R 193 240
Equity-settled share-based payment DAER B E AR A
expenses PANE 53 — 7,962
7,257 14,396
(b)  Other items (b) HfEE
Auditor’s remuneration A E R 680 553
— Audit service —EURE 650 530
— Non-audit service — FELRG 30 23
Depreciation charge: TEXH
— owned property, plant equipment —BEME  BEKRE 575 695
— right-of-use assets —RREE 6 3,794
581 4,489
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BE" T SNA=tHIFE

8.  LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 8. KBEEEZ)
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): (Continued) BREAEBEEING/ GEA)UTRE :
(&)
2021 2020
—BC-F —_T_THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T TR
(b)  Other items (Continued) (b) HMBEE(E)
Written-off of property, plant and MEME - BE K&K
equipment — 652
Research and development expenses X — 9,741
Impairment loss on financial assets under REEREEHEEAER
expected credit loss model, HemEERERE -
net of reversal MRREE 57,539 656
— Trade and other receivables - B 5 R HE M REYTIE 13,687 522
— Contract assets —AHNEE (36) 134
— Amount due from — R — A& LR E AR
a deconsolidated subsidiary B ARZIE 43,888 —
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BERREER
equipment | —
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BILEE ARNBARINER 23,575 —
Expenses relating to short-term leases FREHRENRX 2,113 709
Subcontracting charges ANERZ

(included in direct costs) (Gt AEEMA) 108,429 142,754
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For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

INCOME TAX CREDIT 9. FBHER
2021 2020
—E--F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FAT

Hong Kong Profits Tax: ERNEH -

Current year AER - -
Over-provision in respect of prior years BAEFEHEERE — (170)
Income tax credit Pt % — (170)

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the Group is

not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands.

(i) Under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million of profits

of a qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2

million will be taxed at 16.5%.

For the year ended 30 April 2021 and 2020, Hong Kong Profits Tax of the

qualified entity of the Group is calculated in accordance with the two-tiered

profits tax rates regime. The profits of other group entities in Hong Kong

not qualifying for the two- tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be

taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

(i) No provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made as the

subsidiaries of the Group located in the PRC did not generated any taxable
income for the year ended 30 April 2021 and 2020.

() RERSESAIRAHN FRER
HElBEAMEMMAENR -

(i) BEFEHRRE  GERDEE200
BATANNBER82%  MER
200 8B T EMBFIZFHEA 165%

HE-Z--FR-ZT-ZFNA
“THRLEFE AREMGERE
%Wé%ﬂ SRR FIG B MR 5

o RFAFIGH MM 2 Eb B
%Iﬁﬁ%mﬂ%&%&lw%%ﬁ—
BRIMH o

(i) m%$”ﬂﬁ%¢ﬁmmgﬂﬂ%ﬁ
—FRZZZTFEMA=+
EtirlﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁmWA’

B R R Bl R TS AT R
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For the year ended 30 April 2021
BE" T SNA=tHIFE

9.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss

before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

9. FMEBERE)

<)o

REFARZNAMRZARER  FR
FrEmA X BREABERARNT :

2021 2020

—¥--F “E-FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

T TAT

Loss before taxation BB AR (93,360) (41,789)
Notional tax at the rate applicable to loss RIEARB A AR 2 B

in the tax jurisdictions concerned HRMENE s 2EME (15,404) (7,854)

Tax effect of expense not deductible for FLAIE B AR R 2

tax purpose MEBTE 14,932 6,559

Tax effect of income not taxable BARMBAZ BT 2 — (27)

Temporary differences not recognised RIERRRE =5 — 52

Over-provision in prior years BEFEBERE — (170)

Tax loss not recognised TR 2 HIEEE 472 1,270

Income tax credit FriETE% — (170)

As at 30 April 2021, no deferred taxation has been provided as there are

no significant unrecognised temporary differences (2020: Nil).

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 30 April 2021

and 2020, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the

reporting period.

AR —FUA=1H ARTEE
ARERGRZE WY BRBETH

BH(ZZ-TFF)-

0. RE
HE-ZT--FRZ
i

AUEFEYERMRER
B BREHRETERZRETAR
B

o

ZoZEMNA=T

Tk 3 £ 1] A%
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LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of the

Company is based on the followings:

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE
. BRER
AEARAEEARGERERERZ
EEMT :

2021 2020
—g=-%  "I°%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TRT
Loss BE
Loss for the year attributable to owners of AR EERERNER
the Company for the purposes of ZARRHEEA
basic loss per share EIEFNER (93,360) (39,581)
2021 2020
—E--F —ToTF
'000 '000
FB’ TH
Number of shares ROHE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR EBREREREN
for the purpose of basic loss per share EiRR T2 1,577,200 1,574,201

As the Company's outstanding share options where applicable had an anti-
dilutive effect to the basic loss per share calculation, the exercise of the
above potential dilutive shares is not assumed in the calculation of diluted

loss per share for the year ended 30 April 2021 and 2020.

Therefore, diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share.

ARADRMATTEBERE(WER) S
BREABEHEAEREETYE W
FEHES - —GR-T-FTFNMA
STHLFEZBREEFEERTER
REMBEEIRNHDETE o

A - BREETBERESRELERR
ﬁ o
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For the year ended 30 April 2021

BE-E-—4SMA=+AILEE

12.  DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS 12. EBERTHARGTMH
(a)  Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) ESRITHEARTH
Emoluments of directors and chief executive disclosed pursuant to EERTHAHZEH BiE
the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(I) of the Hong Kong Companies GEMLEMR A - BB LD AEPISE
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information BNERAEBEEZFRE
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follow: FROIE2H I HELT
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits schemes
Fee in kind  contributions Total
e 2 RINER
we REVER TR @t
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TR THER THER
2021 —2--F%
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Zhou (Chairman and xR E (X RRITIRER)
Chief Executive Officer) (note a) (Mt a) — 1,200 8 1,218
Ms. Meng (Compliance Officer)  ZAT(ABREML)(HiEb)
(note b) — 540 18 558
Independent Non-executive BYKHTES:
directors:
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy (note ¢)  BEZ &L (Miskc) 120 — — 120
Mr. Tsui Chung Ho (note d) BRERLE(WE) 156 — — 156
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond BNEEL(Mte)
(note ) 154 — — 154
Dr. Wong Foelan (note f) BRCHL(ES) 2 - - 2

432 1,740 36 2,208
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For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021

BE-T-—EMA=TALEE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 2. EERTHRARETMZ)
(a)  Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued) () EBRTBARTFHE)
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits schemes
Fee inkind  contributions Total
Fe o2 ERAER
we  REDEN HE 5 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TET TRT TAT

2020 i S 3
Executive directors: HITESF:
Mr. Zhou (Chairman and B E(FRRTIHER)

Chief Executive Officer) (Hi3Ea)

(note a) - 1,200 18 1218
Ms. Meng (Compliance Officer) ZAL(AREM)(HiFb)

(note b) — 583 36 619
Independent Non-executive ~ BUIEHITES :

directors:

Mr. Tsui Chung Ho (note d)  BREZ LA (M) 121 — — 121
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond &XEEL(fiiTe)

(note e) 180 — — 180
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy (note ¢) REZZ+(fzc) 54 — — 54
Mr. Tang Yiu Wing (note g) BB %A (M) 5 — — 15
Mr. Zheng Xuchen (note h)  ESfERFEA(FiEEh) 99 - — 99

469 1,783 54 2,306
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[2. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 12.

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)
Notes:

(@)  Mr. Zhou was removed as executive director on 30 September 2021.

(b)  Ms. Meng was removed as executive director on 30 September 2021.

(c)  Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 19 November 2019 and re-designated as an executive
director on 19 July 2021.

(d)  Mr. Tsui Chung Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive

director on 3| August 2019 and resigned on |2 March 2021.

(e)  Dr. Wong Man Hin Raymond resigned as an independent non-

executive director on 9 March 2021,

) Dr. Wong Foelan (“Dr. Wong") was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company, with effect from 26 April
2021 and resigned on 21 June 2021.

(g)  Mr. Tang Yiu Wing was resigned as an independent non-executive

director of the Company on | June 2019.

(h)  Mr. Zheng Xuchen was resigned as an independent non-executive

director on 19 November 2019.

EERTHRAREMZ)
() EBRTBARTFHE)

BiisE -

@ RAEER-Z-_—-FAAZT
AWERHNITES -

(b) HRITRZZEZ—FNA=T
ARERMITES -

() BEZHZIRZ-T-NF+-
AT NBEZEABYENRT
EEYR-_E-—FE+ AN
ARTANTES -

d) HBREREER-Z-NEFNAR
S+ REZTABIIENRT
EEIRE-_—F=A+=
AEHT -

(e) EBEXHBEBTR-Z--—5=7
ABEHIBY FITES -

H EFCEI(EBLEE
ZABEADRBUFERITE
£ AT -FEAZFA
BRABER-_ZE-_—FXA
“t—HEfIT-

(9 HEREER-_ZT-NLELRA
—HHEARABYIERTE
$ o

hy HERAERZZ-AF+—

ATNBBEBLIERNTES -
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[2. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

@)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the

Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above

were for their services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Zhou Ying was the chief executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by

him as the chief executive.

Except for disclosed in note 25, no other transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company or any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and
in which a director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the reporting period or at any time
during the year.

Five highest paid individuals
For the year ended 30 April 2021,
five highest paid individuals (2020: one). The aggregate of the

one director is among the

emoluments in respect of the remaining four (2020: four) highest

e MWK

For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

2. EERTHRARZTFM £

(2)

EERTBABHMZ)
THRBTESHM O ARNEARE
BEARRRASEEHNRBEOFH
B o

TRBIFRTESHFMOEAER
RO ESRERIEFH -

BREERARBZITHER -
EXBEZ R e BRERIERT
HABHRE RS < W -

PRMTEE 2SI E SN RS H
REFAEAEEREFERAT
B UNSIEER G- PNV EIE RPN
ESNETERIRRRREARE
aMEAKEXBERZHEAR

5 THRAER -
LEBEEMAL
Bz -_Z-_-SWNA=THIF
B hasafMALtEREE—

FEZ(CTTF —R) BT

paid individuals are as follows: Ma(ZZ2FF : MA) &=
ATHFMAENT -
2021 2020
—E--F —ZT-ZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FEL
Salaries, fee and allowances e ek 2,805 867
Discretionary bonuses MIBTEA = —
Retirement benefit schemes contributions EREFIFT 2 69 30
Equity-settled share-based payment PARR 45 5 ARR A7 7%

expenses B AREAE — 7962
2,874 8,859
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12.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

12.

B o

ESRTRARFM 2

(b)

REREFMAL(E)
FHRATHFHHEENT :

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
—E--F —ETHE
Emolument bands HEE
Nil = HK$ 1,000,000 ZZ 1,000,000 7T 4 —
HK$ 1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 77T E 2,000,00058 7T — 2
HK$2,000,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T 3,000,000 8 7T o 2

No director or the five highest paid individuals received any
emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the
year ended 30 April 2021 (2020: Nil).

REE-T-—FNA=1THLF
ER - TERESHRELGHEHMHA
THRAEEREEMBE - AN
BASEINMBEASERM R
SHEAEBBE(CSTF
) o

/N
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e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

13. W% BERRE

Plant and Motor  Furniture and Leasehold
machinery vehicles fixtures improvements Total
BR BE
BRER#E AE EERE  NERB a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR TEn TER TER TER
Cost A
As at | May 2019 RZE-NFRLA-H 2463 1634 640 1360 6,097
Additions AE - 880 14 - 894
Written off on early termination AT L SR - - - (1,360) (1,360)
As at 30 April 2020 and | May 2020 R=Z-ZFNA=1+HRK
“Z¥-EFRA-A 2463 2514 654 - 5631
Additions AE - - 16 - 16
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries RitFa NEHE AR - - (13) - (13)
Disposals e — — 9) - 9)
As at 30 April 2021 RZZ-—4NA=1H 2463 2514 648 — 5,625
Accumulated depreciation RithE
Asat | May 2019 RZE-N%1A-B (2463) (866) (563) (425) (4317)
Charge for the year ERZH — (385) (27) (283) (695)
Written off on early termination RERRIAR E I HsA - - — 708 708
As at 30 April 2020 and | May 2020 RZZZZTFMA=FHR
“ZCZERA-A (2463) (1,251 (590) - (4304)
Charge for the year ER - (553) (22) - (575)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries RIHGEANEHERT — — 2 - 2
Written back on disposals HE R - - 8 - 8
As at 30 April 2021 RZE-_-FMA=1H (2,463) (1,804) (602) - (4,869)
Carrying amounts REE
As at 30 April 2021 RZB--%¥NA=1H — 710 46 — 756
As at 30 April 2020 RZZ-ZENA=1H - 1263 64 — 1327
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14.  RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14, EREEE
Leased Furniture and
property fixtures Total
HENE GREKETE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TET
Carrying amounts as at RZE-NFRA-BNEEE
| May 2019 6,394 29 6,423
Early termination of the lease RAIZILEE
Modification (2,623) — (2,623)
Depreciation charges HEXH (3,771) (23) (3,794)
Carrying amounts as at RZZ-ZFMA=TAR
30 April 2020 and | May 2020 —Z-ZEFRA-—BNERMEE — 6 6
Depreciation charges mEXH — (6) (6)
Carrying amounts as at RZE-_—FMA=THNEREE
30 April 2021 — _ _
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or HNEXHEANEEEENEYEBESY
loss is as follows: T -
2021 2020
—E--F —ZTCETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T Fib 7
Expenses relating to short-term lease HERHEERNRAX 2,113 709

Total cash outflow for leases HERSR LB 2,118 4,691




@

MIBMEREEREEERDA
2021 F 8§

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group leases various offices and furniture and fixtures for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 3 years to
5 years. The lease of furniture and fixtures was accounted for as finance
lease liability during the year ended 30 April 2020 and carried interest
at 10.06%. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and

determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Lease liabilities and right-of-use assets were nil as at 30 April 2021 (2020:
lease liabilities of approximately HK$4,000 are recognised with related
right-of-use assets of approximately HK$6,000 as at 30 April 2020).

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the furniture and fixtures that are held by the lessor. Leased

assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

e MWK

For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
BET-—FMA=THIFE

ERAREE#®)
AEEHEATARREURRARE
TREFEERS BEANEIFES

ENETEHRIY - BEZT-_TFMQ
A=THILSE RAREATRENRE
f’E?%paﬂ,éﬁﬂi’—f@ AR W2 10.06% 5t
o EETHEEHR &G T
MRER AEEERAONTERE
BHFRHIRITEHIR

AZE--FWA=1+H HE&EER

FRAEEERT(ZE-_ZF: R=%
TEMA=+H CHERAHEAEYD

4,000 7T % A8 78 60 FA ¥ & 2= 406,000 8

TL) °

GREHEARERRAREERENE

Wg Soh MEBBTERTERNR
c MEBETHRAEBRNERR -
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15.  INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15. RHEARANESR
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 30 April 2021 and 2020 are as RZE-Z—FR-_ZE-_ZEFWA=1
follows: A FEMBARMFENT :

Equity interest

attributable to the Group

A B R AL B
Place/country of Issued share
Company name incorporation capital/registered capital 2021 2020  Principal activities
NAER AMALbE BR ERTRE/EMES —B--Ff -—T-TF IEEHK
Directly held
ERRA
True Sincere Group Limited  British Virgin US$1 of | ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
EREEFR AT Island (“BVI") | B | R ik REER
RERLEE
((RBRELEE])
Sunvot Holdings Limited BVI US$1 of | ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
RERIES | R ERR RERK
Liangzhu Global Limited BVI US$1 of | ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
RERLEE || R ERR RERK
Zhejiang Zhong Chun The PRC Renminbi (“RMB") - 100%  Inactive
300,000,000
AT XL HE ARB(TARK]) — 100% NEE

BRAA 300,000,000 7T
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For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

15. REEARNERE)

Place/country of

Equity interest

ttributable to the Group

75 5% B 4 AR L )

Issued share

Company name incorporation capital/registered capital 2021 2020  Principal activities
REER SMALEE/BR BRORE /EMERX —B--F -T-TF IEEH
Indirectly held
BERR
Strong Move Global BVI US$ 1 of | ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
Limited RERZESE | Bl X EBK REEKR
FERKBR A
Magic City Developments ~ BVI USS$ ! of | ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
Limited RERIES LB | ST E R RERK
Fraser Construction Hong Kong HK$ 18,000,000 of 180,000 100% 100%  Undertaking slope works,
Company Limited N ordinary shares foundation works and
BEBEARRA 180,000 % 18,000,000 %7t other general building
gl works in Hong Kong
ERBETHRIR
ETIE R EAM
—RRETE
Tubo Technology Hong Kong HK$1,000 of 1,000 100% 100%  Provision of consultancy
Construction Company &8 ordinary shares services in relation to the

Limited
ARERAERAF

1,000 1,000/ 7T
BB

management of projects
involving slop works,
foundation works and/or
other general building
works in Hong Kong

ERBRESRARTIR
WEIRR/ S HM
—MREETRERIER
W IR
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I5. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 15. RBARNERZ)

Equity interest

utable to the Group

Place/country of Issued share
Company name incorporation capital/registered capital 2021 2020  Principal activities
AR BRALEY/BX CRORA/BREA -8=-F "F-TF IEXH
Sunvot Tech Co Limited Hong Kong HK$100 of 100 100% 100%  Investment holdings
EERBERAR B ordinary shares REZRR
100 8% 10078 T &Kk
PAI Mobile Holdings Hong Kong HK$100 of 100 81% 81%  Not yet commence business
Limited B ordinary shares EENGIEESS
100 1007 7T & @i
Liangzhu Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$100 of 100 100% 100%  Not yet commence business
REBABRAA BA 100 100 BT E Bk RARRER
Zhejiang Fu Lian The PRC RMB 13,040,000 — 100%  Investment holdings
MIEEREERARAR TE AR 130400007 RERR
Zhejiang Xiu Lian The PRC RMB 18,000,000 — 51%  Developing 5G
LA B E A B & AR #18,0000007C communication
BRAR] and related services

IR 5G B MR RS

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at the BENBARDBITEMRREH KRS
end of the reporting period or at any time during the reporting period. BEMATAEEFENERES o
16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES l6. EZRHEMERTRE
2021 2020
it tf2 —TFH
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Trade receivables from contract with customers REZRFAHNE FEWFIE
(net of allowance for credit losses) (note (a))  (FAREEEBEE) (@) 13,341 23783
Other receivables (note (b)) H ot el 318 (HT5E (b)) 254 29,558
Prepayments and deposits (note (c)) BT ERES (M () 743 50,956
Security deposit (note (d)) RE® (BiEE (d)) — 5,000

14,338 109,297
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BE-T-—EMA=TALEE

l6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) l6. BESZRHMEKREE)
(a)  Trade receivables @ EBZEWFRE
The Group usually provide customers with a credit term of 21-60 AEEREFAREFPRE2Z6OKX
days (2020: 21-60 days). For the settlement of trade receivables (ZEZZTF:2ZF60K)EH
from provision of construction services, the Group usually reaches 5 o IR EERBHE S EHR
an agreement on the term of each payment with the customer BHEEMES AEERENEEN
by taking into account of factors such as, among other things, the RO BB ETPER TR st Rk
credit history of the customer, its liquidity position and the Group's (EHBE)BFNEERET - B
working capital needs, which varies on a case-by-case basis that BEMANAERLEESENRE
requires the judgment and experience of the management. HZ  ERENBRMARTR -

WA S E IR B A A B R AR

Based on the invoice dates (or date of revenue recognition, if BEZZEAM (I haEREE
earlier), the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of allowance UBREERE)  BHEKFEM
for credit loss, was as follows: GRiEEEEEE) NERI TN
T
2021 2020
—BE--F —ETCEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
0-30 days 0£30K 13,151 12,183
31-60 days 3IIE60KR — 10,795
61-90 days 61 290K — 30
Over 90 days [EFEEIIPN 190 775
13,341 23,783
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are BHMEMERZIE 2 HETHFES

set out in note 26.3 to the consolidated financial statements. RERE B TS RARFE 263
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For the year ended 30 April 2021
FMA=THILFE

BEZZ——

[6.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Other receivables

As at 30 April 2020, included an amount of approximately
HK$2,818,000 was due from a related company which

(b)

(i)

(i

was unsecured,

[6.

interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 30 April 2021, the amount was derecognised due to
deconsolidation of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from | May

2020.

EE&EM@W RIE(£)
(b) HEAEKK
() ﬁfi TEMA=1H"

e — M A R FIEFR A
£ 1 1) 492,818,000 7T A
BEE - 2B RARENE
ﬁ RZE-—FNA=+

CRBBEDAREZEZ
$¢£H HE&HEAA
BRAM B A RR LA AR
MR IEHER o

Maximum outstanding

30 April 30 April | May during the year

2021 2020 2019 ERREARESE
“E--f -Z-TFE —TNE 2021 2020
MA=+H  WmA=1R AA-A - CZ2CEE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TEn TAL TAL A TAL
Zhejiang United SME*  MTEIA /MR E* — 2818 3,042 2818 3,042
* A company of which Mr. Zhou, the chairman and the * RRAEFERITHEE

chief executive officer of the Company, and Ms. Meng, the
compliance officer of the Company, are also the ultimate
shareholders.

During the year ended 30 April 2019, the Group prepaid
material cost to suppliers and the first batch deposit for
the project of underground parking garage of approximately
RMB49,450,000 (equivalent to HK$57,604,000). During the
year ended 30 April 2020, the Group entered into termination
agreements with the suppliers to terminate the project. An
aggregate amount of approximately RMB25,130,000 was
refunded. The remaining balances net of impairment loss was
of approximately RMB24,320,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$26,684,000) was reclassified from prepayment and
deposit to other receivables. On 23 December 2019, the
Group entered into agreements with suppliers to extend the
repayment terms and those amounts due are repayable on or
before 31 December 2020. As at 30 April 2021, the amounts
were derecognised due to deconsolidation of Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries from | May 2020.

BRERKRBARE
EERR T RZ AR
BRI o

BE-_Z-NhEFWNA=1
Hﬁﬁﬁ AEERHE
BREMAMERAR TS
BEBENERESHOA
R #49.450,000 T (18 & Eé
57,604,000/ 7T ) © B &
Z-_ZFMA= +H¢¢
B AEBHREEEIT K
EHEARIEZIBE - HiR
B AR EE251300007T ©
MBREBEROBELOA
B #24,320000 7T (18 & »
#926,684,000 78 7T ) B B X
REeEHHBEEHMEYR
B -RZE-NF+=A
—t=R AEEHEEER
ST AEREXRE
MZEHHeEAR_E=
ZE+_A=ZFT—HZHZA
BE -N-_ZT-—FMWA
=+8 ZFEAREZ
E-TFERA—HBREIER
AARNHBARKRIEEA
ANERAR | FRERR o
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6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(©

(d)

Prepayment and deposits

During the year ended 30 April 2020, the Group entered into several
material purchase agreements with its suppliers for the project
of 5G business. As at 30 April 2020, the Group had prepayment
on the purchase of material related to 5G business amounting to
approximately HK$42,251,000. As at 30 April 2021,
amount of approximately HK$33,824,000 were derecognised due to

an aggregate

deconsolidation of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from | May 2020 for

purchase of 5G materials for the year ended 30 April 2021.

The Group considered to negotiate with the supplier to arrange
delivery of materials or to terminate the purchase transaction and
request for refund of prepayment if the materials could not be
provided. However the Group was unable to reach to the supplier.
The management considered the recoverability of the prepayment
deposit is in doubt, an impairment of approximately HK$8,427,000

was recognised on prepayment.

Security deposit

A customer of construction contract undertaken by the Group
required the Group to place a security deposit of HK$5,000,000
for the performance of construction work. The security deposit is
released when the construction work is completed or substantially
completed. As at 30 April 2020, the Group had an outstanding
security deposit of HK$5,000,000. During the year ended 30
April 2021, the construction was not yet commence, the Group
considered to terminate the construction contract and request for
refund of the security deposit. However the Group was unable
to reach to the customer. The management considered the
recoverability of the security deposit is in doubt, an impairment of
HK$5,000,000 was recognised for the year ended 30 April 2021.

le. BEREMEYR

(©)

R RR
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
BEZT-—FNA=THLFE
RIE ()
ANREEE
REBE_TZ-_TFEMA=1THLF
B AEEEHRERMCEBE
BRI L& THRERBHE - R
Z_ZEMA=1H F5EHRE
NEBESCEBHOMBRERNAR
4225100087 c RZEZ—F N
A=tH @HRBE-Z_ZTFIA
— BB LRE ABRAOM B QR
e ANEMRE#R  B#E_T
Z—FMHA=THIEFEFRESG
R IR IB 45T 4133,824,0008 7T
AR IERERR -

REEEEREBEHERHIH
PRSP SR B EER T
R HAELRERAL - 2
M REEALBATIRER - &

BERAENZIESNAKE T
2R 498,427,000 T HY T8

FRRE °

RESE

AREARIBESNAN—EE
PEXAEERBETREIRS
5,000,000 7L 2 R & & ° 1R F
é%%@ﬁlfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%mﬁ
TARR - RZFE-TFMA=1
H’$¢lﬁsmmm%mm%
FemAME - BHE_T-—FM
A=1TBILFEHE  ZRERH
1 REEEREZIEBISHTE
KRERZFR © A - REE KB
BRIEFP ERERARESR
A E Mt EsE  BE-T-—
FMA=THIEFEE®RARNE
5,000,000 87T °
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For the year ended 30 April 2021

BE-E-—4SMA=+AILEE

I7. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES |7. éﬁgﬁgﬁé%’ﬂﬁﬁ

Contract assets BWEE
2021 2020
—E-—& —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Unbilled revenue AR ERE 3,464 4611
Retention receivables IR & 6,153 8,567
9,617 13,178

Note: BfsE -

Unbilled revenue represents the Group's right to receive consideration for
work completed and not yet billed because the rights are conditional upon the
satisfaction by the customers on the construction work completed by the Group
and the work is pending for the certification by the customers. The contract assets
are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become unconditional,
which is typically at the time the Group obtains the certification of the completed

construction work from the customers.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represents the Group's right
to consideration for work performed and not yet billed because the rights are
conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a
certain period as stipulated in the contracts. The contract assets are transferred to
the trade receivables when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at
the expiry date of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group on the

service quality of the construction work performed by the Group.

The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional. The amount of contract assets expected to be recovered/settled
over one year is HK$4,492,000 (2020: HK$8,309,000), all of the remaining balances

were expected to be recovered/settled within one year.

ABRERGZEAREEEUE T T TRER
REBRUFENASEFPEMAEENT
RELTRNAFEATREREPARE
HARERE - REMKBSEEEE - 28
BEDNBREZEHRIE  —KRALEE
EREPHERTEETRRNAER -

AAABHEBEMRRRE SIRAKESAH
RIBUEKENET - BREFENARF
BERENREZ - ERBAEMRBER
FRAGEMHAMARE - R WEERERN
RREGERBREESRETER  — KR
AEERARERRARCEETREZRBE
ZRUREFDREOIHAE -

BFKBEREE  GHEENBEEES
JENIE - BB R BB —FNE/ EE
ANBETEA4492000BT(ZE-_FTF :
8,309,000 7T) - AT A SREFEE RN —F R
|/ #E .
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For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021

BE-T-—EMA=TALEE

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 17. EHEERGHNEEBE)
Contract liabilities BREE
2021 2020
—E-—& —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRT TET
Contract liabilities arising from construction BEGHRBAOBNTIBEEZ
contracts from billings aREE
in advance of performance - -
All of the contract liabilities is expected to be recognised as revenue FEEHEBREALEN —FRERAENE -
within one year.
Movement in contract liabilities BREEZED
2021 2020
—¥—-F “E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T THEL
Balance as at | May REAR—B2#&H — 2,490
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of REXTER Y (R E BT A
recognising revenue during the year that was ANER)BHANEERD
included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the reporting period — (2,490)

Balance as at 30 April

ROA=THZz & — —
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For the year ended 30 April 2021
BE" T SNA=tHIFE

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(@)  Cash and cash equivalents

18. RERREZEY
@) BRERBRLEEY

2021 2020
—E-—& —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TAL
Cash at banks and on hand and deposits ~ $R1TRFHEE & A RR
placed in financial institution TRIBEHOTX 25,183 37,408
Notes: Pirat
(a)  Cash at banks and deposits placed in financial institution earns interest @ RORERESARTEHRN

at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

(b)  No cash and cash equivalent (2020: HK$30,000) denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB") are placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not
a freely convertible currency. Under the PRC's Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sales and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for foreign currencies through banks that are

authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

EHTHFIRS S -

BEAARBIAREE
MESRBREEEMZ=Z=
T 1300008 7T ) 7 A P EIE
FIT ARBUFTEEER
KRG - RETEIEEEK
PIREE EERFEEEMR
T ASEREZSAEREE
THNEEBHRITEARE R
BEBINE o
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8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities

can be classified as follows:

e MWK

For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

18. BeRASEEN#E)
b)) METDELZEEZHE
AEBELEMETD ABECE
BR[ BT

Amount due to

a director of

Amounts due to

a subsidiary directors  Leases liabilities Total
el —F]
YN
—REFTE  ENEENE HERE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET TAT
As at | May 2019 RZZ-NFHRA-B 40,000 1,202 642 47623
Cash flows RERE
Advance from a director RE—BHBAR-%E%F
of a subsidiary B3 700 - - 700
Repayment of amount due to ERENESIE
a director - (784) - (784)
Repayment to lease liabilities EEHEAR - — (3,728) (3,728)
Interest paid BERFIE — - (254) (254)
Non-cash changes FRe%H
Finance costs recognised BERREAKA - - 254 254
Termination of lease 31k — - (2,689) (2,689)
At 30 April 2020 and | May 2020 RIZZZEMA=TAR
“Z¥-ZFRA-A 40,700 418 4 41122
Cash flows BeRE
Addition from directors REESNIE - 3,733 - 3733
Repayment to lease liabilities EEHERE - - (4) )
Repayment to a director A-ERBAR-LEZER
of a subsidiary (10,700) - - (10,700)
Interest paid BRFME - - (1 ()
Non-cash changes FRe%8
Finance costs recognised BERREKA - - |
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries RitFa NENEAR — (195) - (195)
As at 30 April 2021 R=B--%¥NA=1AH 30,000 3956 - 33956
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For the year ended 30 April 2021
BE" T SNA=tHIFE

9. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

19. ESRHEMENSTE

Trade payables (note (a))

Retention payables (note (b))
Accruals and other payables (note (c) and (d))

B SN FIEME @)

FEFHRER & (B EE (b))

JEEHE A R E BT FRIE
(B 3E () R (d))

2021 2020
—E--F —ZTCETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER THET
15,280 23,507
6,332 8,772
40,380 51,391
61,992 83,670

Notes: Bisk
(a)  Payment terms granted by suppliers are 42-60 days (2020: 42-60 days) from @) { EERTHNZERAER ﬁ?ﬁ BE
the invoice date of the relevant purchases. ZHHBNEOR(ZTE_ZF:
Miwi%
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is as follows: BHRNFEREZAMNERAIN
mr
2021 2020
—Z2--F —TEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
0-30 days 0&30K 15,238 23,261
31-60 days 3IIE60K — 204
61-90 days 61 E90K - -
Over 90 days HiBIOR 42 42
15,280 23,507
(b)  Retention payables are interest-free and settled in accordance with the terms (b) ENRELALE UBREEBEAY
of the respective contracts. MEFREE -

(c)  Accruals and other payables included an amount due to a director of a
subsidiary of HK$30,000,000 (2020: HK$40,700,000). The balance is non-

trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

EABRAMEMESRERRERENY—
EA)= ’&Tsﬁﬁ%ﬂmoooooooﬁém
(ZZ T4 £ 40,700,000/87T) © &4
BIHBHHE  EER RERIKE
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 19. ESREMENREE)
Notes: (Continued) Mist : (48)
(d)  Accruals and other payables included amounts due to Mr. Zhou, a director of d) REHAEBRAMENFEAERNAK
the Company of HK$3,262,000 (2020: HK$418,000) and Ms. Meng, a director NREZFE K ERIE3262,0008 T
of the Company of HK$694,000 (2020: nil). The balance was non-trade (ZZZZF : 4180008 7T) REMK
nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Mr. Zhou and Ms. AAEFFELTHRIA6940008 7T
Meng were subsequently removed as executive directors subsequently on 30 (ZZEZZF:8) BHAIEIN
September 2021. E BER 2ERREXEER-H
FERZRLTRER-ZE-_—F1A
“THRMBRRITES
20. LEASES LIABILITIES 20. HERE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the TRITASEHERERRERBLR
Group's lease liabilities at the end of the reporting periods and at the date FRBEEEBMBREELENE 65E
of transition to HKFRS 16: BrgR N E AR
30 April 2021 30 April 2020
“B--fNA=TH “RCZFNA=TH
Present Total Present Total
value of the minimum value of the minimum
minimum lease lease  minimum lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REAE REAE REHE RERE
NREME FRAH 5RE BEE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET FET

Within | year —ER e S
After | year but within 2 years —FREMFA — — — —
— — 4 6
Less: total future interest expenses  J& : R RF B F T A% — (2)

Present value of lease liabilities HEBERE - 4
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20. LEASES LIABILITIES (Continued)

Leases liabilities are effectively secured by the underlying assets as the

rights to the leased assets would be reverted to the lessor in the event of

default by repayment by the Group.

21. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position

represent

20, HEBE#S)

o

HEABERARBEERER WA
SETETERERT FBHEEEEMN

EFRBELEA

2l GEMBRARPOHAE

(@) SERBRIRPOEABIRE

2021 2020

—E--F —TTF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THER TAT

At the beginning of the year REA (209) 620

Tax provision for the year FERBERE — —

Tax refunded during the year FRRBIHT (509) (1,075)

Tax paid during the year FREMFIE 962 76

Over-provision in respect of prior years ~ ABBREFE 2 BEEE — 170

At the end of the year RER 244 (209)
Represented by: R&:

Tax recoverable Bk 278 343

Tax payable FERTIE (34) (552)

244 (209)
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BE-T-—EMA=TALEE

21.  INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 2l REMBRARTOFER @)
FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
(b)  Deferred taxation (b) EEHE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated unused REEHER REEHFY
tax losses of approximately HK$10,500,000 (2020: HK$7,639,000) 10,500,000/ 7L(Z T = £ F -
available for offsetting against future profits of the companies 7,639,000 % 7T ) M st R EVA 1B
in which the losses arose. The estimated unused tax losses may EREAARNEHEELEEEEENA
be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been BIRIARACHE R o (st ARE B EE
recognised in respect of these estimated unused tax losses due to BAERRAEE - ARRICEFR
unpredictability of future profit streams. JREARITER - R ERL LS
AARPAHEERRRETHIAL
BEo
22. SHARE CAPITAL 2. BRAE
(@)  Share capital @@ RB=
No. of shares 2021 No. of shares 2020
RGOBE —F--F Rir8E —TZTF
’000 HK$°000 '000 HK$'000
TR THERT Th TET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares at SREBOI AR L AR
HK$0.01 each 2,000,000 20,000 2,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREBRE:
Ordinary shares at SREECOI AT L ERK
HK$0.01 each
At the beginning of RS
the reporting period 1,577,200 15,772 1,440,000 14,400
Placing of new shares (note) — ER&HMRM7 (HizE) — — 137,200 1,372
At the end of NTES PN
the reporting period 1,577,200 15,772 1,577,200 15,772
The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as ERREA AEREDNAEEIRY
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share RE - REEER-KR—ZNEAANE
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary share rank equally with AE FRE - AL BRERDA]

regard to the Company's residual assets. ZHBEEZFBERSHA
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22. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

@)

(b)

Share capital (Continued)
Note:

On 8 May 2019, the Company completed to issue and allot 137,200,000
placing shares to not less than six independent placees at the placing price
of HK$0.365 per placing share. The net proceeds from the placing after
deducting relevant expenses of approximately HK$49,046,000, was utilised
for general working capital of the Group, financing the expansion of the 5G

business and existing construction business and future business opportunity.

Capital risk management

The Group's capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an
adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods and services

commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and
makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. The
Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio.
For this purpose total debt is defined as amount due to a director of
a subsidiary, amounts due to directors and lease liabilities as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The management
reviews the capital structure by considering the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue of new shares, return of capital to shareholders, raise of new

debt or sell assets to reduce debt.

22.

NG
@) BRXE)
B3t

RZZE-NFRANB ' ARAER
[N 7N 2 8 A A B A BT R B B
137,200000 R BL S ik f7 - REBAE
IRECE B9 036578 7T » MR IBRIR X
1% BB 1S FUBFRE XY /449,046,000
BT BEASEN—REEESD
WARRSGER REREEBKKA
BBINEBHBRIES -

EXERER
AEEERE RS HERRASERE
BEREL2YERTERRKY
WEmRRBTE  ARRERE
LR

A& BRI E R HERREL
REERREBMELAE - KK
BENEEABHRERY

B Btms  EHRBRRATA
N—RRBRRESNE  ENE
SHEREE A E (MG A
MRARFAT) - ERERBER
ARAREREREHNRRER
BARE - BEN M - AEEATRE
AEINTFRRABEER - 17
M - ARREEER - B&H
BRI EEENREET -

&t
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BERER(E)
RFERROEESBLENT

22. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 22.
(b)  Capital management (Continued) (b)

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period is as follows:

2021 2020
—g=-f  -—T-%%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T TR
Total debts: EEE

Leases liabilities HERE — 4
Amount due to a director of a subsidiary ERN—RlBAR—REEHIE 30,000 40,700
Amounts due to directors ENEERE 3,956 418
33,956 41,122

(Deficit)/equity attributable to owners of AR AR AL (B4 /xR
the Company (11,854) 79,336
Gearing ratio BERRLE (286.5%) 51.8%
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

23. ADEMMBRRE

2021 2020
—E--F —ZT-ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RINB A BN E I 3981

Current assets RBEE
Deposits, prepayment and other receivables Be - BRREREMEKE - 13598
Amounts due from subsidiaries [T B A B FOE 7 44 897
Amount due from a director fEEE R — 10
Cash and bank balances Be MRS 309 [,827
316 60,432
Current liabilities hRBEE

Other payables H ity R 4,970 2,208
Amounts due to subsidiaries Nl ENGIE = 20,304 20,454
Amounts due to directors [ENE =R 3,610 —
28,884 22,662
Net current (liabilities)/assets e (8B EEFE (28,568) 37,770
Net (liabilities)/assets (8 EEFHE (28,567) 41,751

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRE
Share capital [N 15,772 15,772
Reserves | (44,339) 25,979
Total equity ERAE (28,567) 41,751

Signed on behalf of the board of Directors on 30 November 2021 by:

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy

Director

Mr. Choi Pun Lap

Director

HTIEER-_F_—F+—-A=1H

RREFERE -

REZRL
EF

BAY K4
EF
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23. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 23. ARAFWEBMRRKE)
(Continued)
Note: The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows: s - RAREBENEEBERNT -
Retained
Share-based earnings/
payment (accumulated
Share premium reserve losses) Total
NSOV E-2 i) REBF,/
R BN (Z3tERE) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T A7 A7
As at | May 2019 RZE-N$RA-H 24,457 — 11,942 36,399
Placing of new shares FEFR R 48,706 — — 48,706
Share issuing expense BROBETRX (1,032) — — (1,032)
Equity-settled EREE RN &
share-based payment EREAR — 7962 — 7962
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZERYER
expense for the year — — (66,056) (66,056)
As at 30 April 2020 and RZZZZFMA=1H
| May 2020 RZZE-ZFRA-H 72,131 7962 (54,114) 25979
Loss and total comprehensive FRBBREZERTAE
expense for the year — — (70,318) (70,318)

As at 30 April 2021 R-B--£RmA=1A 72,131 7962 (124432) (44,339)
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24.

DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group deconsolidated the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from its

consolidated financial statements with effective on | May 2020.

The following is a list of the subsidiaries which have been

deconsolidated from | May 2020:

<)o

24, RIEZEANEHEBATF
AEENGAMBRERATEAHRLE
BAANRNWEAR AT -TFFH
A—BRREM -

@ UTAB-Z-_TFRA-—BER
IEEFREAROME R EFI% -

Company name

Place/country

of incorporation

Issue share

capital/registered

Effective
interest held

by the Group  Principal activities

L 1A B 3L BRITRE REBEAE

DREH wE/ER HEMER RELH FEXH

Zhejiang Zhong Chun PRC RMB300,000,000 [00%  Inactive

AT R ER AR * & AR 300,000,000 100% AR

Zhejiang Fu Lian PRC RMB20,000,000 [00%  Investment holdings

MIBEEEETEARAR* i A #20,000,0007C 100% REZK

Zhejiang Xin Lian PRC RMB 18,000,000 51%  Developing 5G
communication
and related services

ATHGEREBARMERAR  + AR 18,000,000 51%  BESGEBARMABRSE

* The entity was established in the PRC and is wholly-owned foreign

enterprise.

o RPERITRIEEERE
WERE -
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DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 24, RIEGAEANEMBLARE)
The net assets of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries as of | May 2020, by RZZEZTFRH-HAKRIEGE
which is based on audited financial information as of 30 April 2020 AENIBARIMNEEFE (£
and the amounts due from Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were set out REBRRAIBEZE_T_Z i@ﬂ
below: STHNEERMBEN) Rk
Hﬂl%ﬂ:ﬁé)\?@ﬁ@ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁ’ﬁk
EDRIEFIAT
Total
st
HK$’000
THERT
Net assets deconsolidated of: RUEGREARNEETE
Property, plant and equipment Y ER S I
Other receivables Hi YRR 29,149
Prepayments and deposits BRNFIERES 40,517
Cash and bank balances ReMRITER 433
Other payables Hﬁﬂﬁ‘éﬁ%lﬁ (6,625)
Amount due to immediate holding company eI E &I PR (43,888)
Amount due to a director & 1TJL—%§$’ (195)
Release of non-controlling interest upon BMXJJ:ZHA)\EEH%#@%T s
deconsolidation 2,003
Release of exchange reserve upon deconsolidation RERIEER S A RIS RRRR B 3L (6 2,170
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries RIEGEARMBARNER 23,575
Net cash outflow arising from MERARR I RE ARNRSRLFE

deconsolidation of subsidiaries

(433)
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o

24. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 24, RIEZEANRKEBAEZ)
(c)  Impairment on amount due from a deconsolidated subsidiary () ER-—ELLGEARNKELR
FERE
As at | May 2020, the Group had following amount due from a RN_Z_ZTFRA-H AEEE
deconsolidated subsidiary W — R LR A ABREIPH B 2RI
TR
Total
#st
HK$'000
Ti#n
Amount due from Zhejiang Fu Lian RN T = R 0R 43,888
— Impairment loss on amount due from — B —RR LR ARSI E L 730
a deconsolidated subsidiary REER (43,888)
Total meE —

As disclosed in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements, as
at | May 2020, the Group had an amount due from a deconsolidated
subsidiary of approximately HK$43,888,000. An impairment loss
on amount due from a deconsolidated subsidiary of approximately

HK$43,888,000 was recognised during the year ended 30 April 2021.

MiGEMBERRMT 24T HRE -
RZZE-ZTFRA—H  A5EE
W—R& A ABRRIME A RN
B 4) 543,888,000/ - HE-F
T-FRAZTRHLFEDHERE
Wik & ABR AP B A AR
B 51847 43,888,000 BT
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25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 5. BHARS
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in the RS BRREMESIFLZ2ZHR
consolidated financial statements, the Group has entered into the following N - AEBRIATHEB RS -

related party transactions:

(@)  Key management personnel remuneration @ EEEBAEHH
The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the ARBEERSREEE(ATE
Company, who represent the key management personnel are as EEAS)FHMIOT
follows:
2021 2020
—BC--F —TCFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THr TAET
Salaries, fee and allowances e me kR 3,512 3,091
Discretionary bonuses HIBTEAL — 223
Equity-settled share-based R EE AR RERNNRFEX
payment expenses — 7962
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  EIREFIFT 2 72 100

3,584 11,376
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25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b)  Transactions with related parties
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,

the Group entered into the following transactions with its related

B¥ERE (%)

HRBAINRS
R MBERREMEDABES
b REEEARER I MR

parties: 5
Name of related party Nature 2021 2020
o) obat HE —E--F “E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET
Mars Glare Limited Rent paid thereto (note (i) and (ii)) 426 396
EZREBRAE BRI (B () R (i)

Rental expense paid to related parties are constituted as continuing
connected transaction under GEM Listing Rules, but are exempted
from the announcement, reporting and independent shareholders'

approval requirement.
Notes:

(i) An office with car parking space was leased from Mars Glare Limited
during the year ended 30 April 2020 and 2021 on terms mutually
agreed between both parties.

(i) A company of which Mr. Yu Shek Man Ringo, a director of a subsidiary

of the Company, is a shareholder.

RIBEGEM ETRA T RAH
TREERXBRSERERS -
BREHRETASE  RREBUM
REERRE

Wit

iy  REEFERBZEHNET B
BHE_T-_ZFER-_T-_—F
WA=1+HIFEBEEZHEA
RARAE - EREMNN

PR

iy REBEECKRA-HEWER
AINEE) AR ARINBRE -
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25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

()

Details of the balances with related parties at the end of the

reporting period are set out in note |6.

NEREREEERRAF is
ultimately owned by Mr. Zhou Ying and Ms. Meng Ying and hence,

Zhejiang United SME W/LHA

a connected person of the Company. Amount due from M /TEk
EHRNCEEREBRBR AT was de minimis and exempted
connected transactions, such transactions contemplated thereunder
are exempted from announcement, reporting and the independent

shareholders approval requirement under GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 30 April 2020, #IE &P/ NEEEREE
BBR7A 7] provided offices in PRC to the Group without any charge

which was in favor to the Group.

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

25. BMAERS#)

(©)

T HR S AR ) 045
W16

REFIEE

MIBAR N EERREEFRD
ARARLERAEL LT ERE
B AURARAIMBEALT - B
Yo TEA R R ERRERER
ARFBEAFERERCHATELA
BREBERS  BUE®TZZ
ERSHEHRPETCEM ETARA
HAg  RREBIREAENR

;'_‘Eo

HE_Z-_ZTHENA=-tHLHF
EoOmIBan EREREER
RARAAKEREFENRER
it ERMEEER - AHAK
BEF -
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 26, BiBRBREER ATEE

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial AEENARERBRETPFEFRERTEA
instruments in its ordinary course of operations. The financial risks include mAENERERR - HEERBENEE
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk B ZERBEREESRER  AEE
management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the MEERREERKSEBYAEEN
Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the BRENBEMNTERERE - AR
senior management of the Group and approved by the Board of Directors. EEHAEBESRERENTILE
EEHtE-
The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management AEEURERRAAERAEEER
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are ZERBRETANMBERREEBR RE
described below. NI e
26.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities 261 TREERARIE
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of BAEPBHKRRIERERT
financial position relate to the following categories of financial assets CRIEENBENERD
and liabilities:
2021 2020
—B--F —T_THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
Financial assets tREE
At amortised cost: BB KA E
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 Rt YT IE 13,595 59,404
— Cash and cash equivalent -RekBReEEY 25,183 37,408
38,778 96,812
Financial liabilities tRAE
At amortised cost: RE AR
— Trade and other payables -85 LEMENTIR 61,992 83,670
— Lease liabilities -HERE — 4

61,992 83,674
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(Continued)

26.2

26.3

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Leases liabilities bearing fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk and the exposure to the Group is

considered immaterial.

The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group bank balances and

deposits placed in financial institution is considered immaterial.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fail to discharge its obligation under the terms of
the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group. The
Group's exposure to credit risk mainly arises from granting credit
to customers in the ordinary course of its operations and from its

investing activities.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the
carrying amounts of the financial assets at the end of each reporting
period as detailed in note 26.1 and contract assets at the end of the

reporting period.

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

26. BHEBEERATETEA)

26.2

26.3

IEST
FIEERIENSBIANATE
SRS RBBERTBFENED

MR BN o FREEF it 86
ﬁ%ﬁf RAKEEBRTERNE

i R A 5 B 2 | L Bt D 4 AR
%ﬂ%iko

REBZ BITHEBRNEREEN

FREM R R ARG AL E
* o

FERR
FERREERIAZRSHFR
ERESBTAZKRETALL
REARERIHMHRKR R -
AEBEAZ 2 EERBIEZRER

HERXBBRATPHEEER
KERERE -

AEEfEZ REEERRER
REBEEREREM R KAE
(TREE 26, FEFL) AR A HVE E
N|EPRZIRAEME -
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(Continued)
26.3 Credit risk (Continued)
In respect of trade receivables and contract assets, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers and counterparties.
These evaluations focus on the counterparty's financial position,
past history of making payments and take into account information
specific to the counterparty as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the counterparty operates. Monitoring
procedures have been implemented to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade and other
receivables and contract assets at the end of each reporting period
to ensure adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable

amounts.

As at 30 April 2021, the Group has concentration of credit risk
as 41% (2020: 73%), and 99% (2020: 98%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the Group's largest customer and five
largest customers respectively. The aggregate amounts of trade
receivables from these customers amounted to HK$5,510,000 (2020:
HK$17,350,000), and HK$13,211,000 (2020: HK$23,312,000) of the
Group's total trade receivables at 30 April 2021,

26.

<)o

BEEREER DV ERE)

263 ERR(E)

BRNESRAMREFARANE
E REUMBEFLEFIET
EREERHE - ZEFEEENE
FHZEBAR - BEN A -
YERHF 2 HEERARES
FHREMBOEERS - £5E
EEmERRFRERRIE—S
TBREAHET - ko - KEE
ERERENREHNZEANES K
HipEUWRERAHEE 2 ATKE
B UERET KD SHEEL
RRRERBREMRE

RZZTZ—5MA=1+H B
WFEREN4I%(ZEF

73%) ] 99% (ZZ =T F : 98%) 7
AREUASESAEPRAX
RPORE AAEBEER
ER - RZE-_—FNA=1
B ERZEEFPNEFHEKK
BRBAASEEHRNFIEL
#55100008 M(ZE T F:
17,350,000 % 7T ) & 13,211,000/ 7T
(ZZ=ZF 1 23312,000/7T) ©
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 26, BiREREER AFEIE(£)
(Continued)

263 Credit risk (Continued) 263 FERRE)

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables, the directors of the Company make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables
based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. For the year ended 30 April
2021, the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and loss

allowance of HK$13,715,000 (2020: HK$409,000) was recognised.

Bank balances and deposits placed in financial institution

The Group bank balances and deposits placed in financial institution
with approved and reputable banks and financial institution.
Bankruptcy or insolvency of the banks and financial institution may
cause the Group's right with respect to bank balances and deposits
placed in financial institution held to be delayed or limited. The
directors of the Company monitor the credit rating of these banks
and financial institution on an ongoing basis, and consider that the
Group's exposure to credit risk as at 30 April 2021 and 2020 were

minimal.

Trade receivables and contract assets

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past
|2 months. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group's view of

economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

HittERRERER
BREMERRENS  ARAESR
BREBFEEZE  BELCH U
REBRASFHHOAEESHNTEE
REMER - EHEE LA
KA R el B B AT AR - BE
T —FNAZ+HLEEE A&
EERTAEMERKENER
FEBBYERER 13715000 #T
(ZZZZF : 40900078 7T ) K0 &
BEE -

RITEHRREBBBHER
AREWRTESRN S REEN
FARERRBA REBRFNR
TREREE - RTREBBER
ERENERITEIBAEE
HI AR RITER RN S REE
BT SRR R HE R SR S B R A -
ARREERBEEEZSRINE
BRENEETR  YRATEE
R_FE-_—5R-F-_FFQNA
—tRMAZ 2 EERRBEN -

BERUKERGNEE
ﬁ%%%ﬂﬁﬁfﬁi+:ﬁﬂm
ERBRERAE - AFHLXREE

ﬂﬁﬁvu&%wﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
HEERR - B AR kA S E
R RFHALERROE
EZRNER
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 26, BiEEREERATLETESE)

(Continued)
26.3 Credit risk (Continued) 263 FEERRE)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) ESRBHERANEE(Z)
Movement in the allowance for credit loss in respect of trade BEBRESRUFEREGNEEZR
receivables and contract assets during the year is as follows: EEERBERFENZEHNT -
Average Gross Expected
loss rate carrying amount credit losses
FHBRE #kEE - BAHEEEER
Trade receivables % HK$'000 HK$'000
85 BWRE % TR TET
Current (not past due) ENEA (K@) — 13,151 =
1-30 days past due BHII-30K — — —
31-60 days past due BEA3I-60K — — —
61-90 days past due #6190 K — — —
More than 90 days past due BHI90 R L 30.80% 275 85
13,426 85
Average Gross Expected
loss rate  carrying amount credit losses
FHEEEX BREE - EHEEER
Trade receivables % HK$'000 HK$'000
85 BYWRE % TRT TRT
Current (not past due) ENER (R HA) — 22,739 —
1-30 days past due BE 130K — 30 —
31-60 days past due BHE31-60K 4,98% 903 45
61-90 days past due BHI6I-90K — — —
More than 90 days past due  #HI90KIA L 30.80% 224 68

23,896 I3
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 26, HIEBRBEERAFEE(E)
26.3 Credit risk (Continued) 263 FERRE)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) ESEWNERGNEE(E)
HK$’000
TER
Contract assets BREE
2021 i
Expected credit loss rate (%) REEEEEX (%) 1.01%
Gross carrying amounts BEREE 9,715
Expected credit losses BHEEER 98
Net carrying amounts FEREE 9,617
HK$'000
FEL
Contract assets BHEE
2020 —BIER
Expected credit loss rate (%) BHEEBEX %) 1.01%
Gross carrying amounts BEREE 13,312
Expected credit losses BHEEER 134
Net carrying amounts FEREE 13,178
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(Continued)
26.3 Credit risk (Continued)
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has
been recognised for prepayment, deposits and other receivables

under the general approach.

<)o

26. BHEBEERATETEA)

263 FERRE)
BAHE  BeRHEMERRE
TRER KA ETERRNER
HIE - RE REMRYGRIER 2B
BHEEERZHER -

12 months Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
T=fEA 2HES 2HEHS
FAEEER FEER FEEBR #5t
(R#&E (&
EHE) FERE)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERr TR TR TERT
As at | May 2019 RZZE-NFRHA—H — — — —
Impairment losses recognised ERRRERR 409 — — 409
At 30 April 2020 and | May 2020 R-Z=TF
MA=+HkK
“T-T¥hA-H 409 — — 409
Deconsolidation of ®ItEE AR
subsidiaries MERR (409) — — (409)
Impairment loss recognised ERRAERE — — 13,715 13,715
At 30 April 2021 RZTZ—F
mA=+H — — 13,715 13,715
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(Continued)
26.3 Credit risk (Continued)

Movement of allowance for expected credit loss for trade

receivables, contract assets and other receivable and as follows:

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

26, BEEAREERQVENE®R)
2603 FEERE)

TRERCHINENFTR - &
& RE RSB BRI

Ag :
Prepayment,
Trade Contract deposits and other
receivables assets receivables Total
BNNE  RE2R
BAENE ANEE RtoEUFE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
As at | May 2019 RZE-N¥1LA—H = — = =
Allowance for expected credit ERARSEEEERE
loss recognised I3 134 409 656
As at 30 April 2020 and RIZZZFNA=TAR
| May 2020 “Z-ZERA-A 13 134 409 656
Reversal of expected credit loss ~ BEREEEERE (28) (36) - (64)
Reversal upon deconsolidation of ~ # &R & ABRIT B A RIARE
subsidiaries — — (409) (409)
Allowance for expected credit ~ ERERBHEEBERE
loss recognised — - 13,715 13,715
As at 30 April 2021 RZE_—FMA=1H 85 98 13,715 13,898
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(Continued)
264 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group is
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade payables
and its financing obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow
management. The Group's objective is to maintain an appropriate
level of liquid assets and committed lines of funding to meet its

liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the Group in

meeting its liabilities.

Analysed below is the Group's remaining contractual maturities for
its non-derivative financial liabilities at the end of the reporting date.
When the creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the
liability is included on the basis of the earliest date on when the
Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the liability
is in instalments, each instalment is allocated to the earliest period in

which the Group is committed to pay.

26.

<)o

BEEREER DV ERE)

26.4

RBESER
RBEEABREREERERETT
HENRNRe A —EREERS
EneRaEEBECNERE
B AEENBEEERNTIAL
BIEREEAAENAKRERE
ERAEAXRBESRRE - A%
Bl B RARFEEKTHREE
R EE R HE G ﬁf NE&
RERREARSES

EEBEEASENRRERE
NHERENENERRE -

TXRRFAEERGERREELE
FTEERBENH TROFHD
ir - HEEABEERERREN
B ERBRRAREREENR
EENKFERAIAR - MEEFEE
HEE BEEFIRIEE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(Continued)
26.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the undiscounted

cash flows of the financial liabilities.

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

26. BEEREBRAFLEIFES)
264 FEBESERE)

TXAENHAI M HEREREE
MABRRSRENE

On demand Over Total
or within | year but undiscounted Carrying
one year within 5 years  cash flows amount
BRER BE—-F REER
FR-FA  ERIFR REnE AEREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET TET THET TET
As at 30 April 2021 R-ZB--FMA=+H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERNTIE 61,992 — 61,992 61,992
As at 30 April 2020 RZZEZTEFNA=1H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERFIE 83,670 — 83,670 83,670
Leases liabilities HERE 6 — 6 4
83,676 — 83,676 83,674

The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets in
assessing and managing liquidity risk, in particular, its cash resources
and other liquid assets that readily generate cash. The Group's
existing cash resources and other liquid assets significantly exceed

the cash outflow requirements.

AEERFELEERBECAR
REEZRLREENERRER
E LERERSEARRFELR
EMEMRDHEE - FEERER
eERLEMRBEENERBR
REFK
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26.

27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(Continued)
26.5 Fair value measurement
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and liabilities
carried at amortised cost are not materially different from their fair

values for both years.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme on |5
October 2015 (the “Scheme"). The terms of the Scheme are in accordance

with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to eligible participants and to
promote the success of the business of the Group. Eligible participants
of the share option scheme include employees (full-time and part-time),
directors, consultants, advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,

customers, business partners or service providers of the Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Scheme, in any 12-month period up to the

date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable
by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for
the grant of option(s) is HK$I. An option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant

subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

26.

27.

<)o
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the
average closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant of the option. For the purpose of calculating the subscription price,
where the Company has been listed on the Stock Exchange for less than
five business days, the new issue price shall be used as the closing price for

any business day falling within the period before listing.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing
on the date of adoption, being 15 October 2015, and shall expire at the
close of business on the business day immediately preceding the tenth
anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier by the shareholders of the

Company in general meeting.

(@)  The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnl 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE
EREE2)
R A B8R 05 E R A
DREEHEFSELRETTRN2 A
 EFBERTI&SE : ()ROR
BRERHABWEARERR)NER
ERRERMBRKDE : (\RHRE
EERERLEARNAAEZRERR
FrERRERARNFHRTE K (i)
B R RER A MAOmEE - E5E
ERBEME - WARARB AN L
mHRAIRABEERA  HRITELA
tER LA EREEAE XA RRTE -

FZE BN EAME R T —0F 1+ A
THR)EFTFEABR - BRIFERRK
SLEARARRERRL  BRRE
EREBES SN TEEA—EEXAH
BERREREER o

(@) BRENERREEDT

Number of

instruments ~ Vesting conditions Exercise period

TAHE BERMAE 76
Options granted to employees:
KT REMBAE -
—on 23 September 2019 60,000,000  No vesting period or
vesting condition 5 years
-RZE-NENLA-+=H TREBHIGEB R 5%
Total share options granted 60,000,000

il 28 28
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
(@)  The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows: (Continued)
As at 30 April 2021 and 2020, the number of shares in respect of
which may be issued upon exercise of share options granted and
remain outstanding under the Scheme was 60,000,000, representing

3.8% of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

B o

27. BERETE(E)

@) BENERRGEGNT : (&)
RZE-Z-—FR_FT_FTFNA
=1+H - BIEREZ EE RS
i i AR TR A R AR RE T AT BB B 1T
F& 17 21 B £ 60,000,000 % @ {EALD
AR Z BB EITRDH)3.8% °

30 April 2021 30 April 2020
2021 F4A30R 2020F4A30A

Weighted Weighted
average exercise Number of  average exercise Number of
price per share options  price per share options

sRmE ShmiE
FHTEE BRERA FfeE BREHE
HK$ '000 HK$ 000
BT i) BT T
On | May REA-A 035 60,000 - -
Grant during the year FREML/ KN - = 035 60,000
On 30 April RUA=+A 035 60,000 035 60,000
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The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows: (Continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year

was estimated as at the date of grant, using a binomial model, taking

into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were

granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

27.

BAMBREMS
For the year ended 30 Apnil 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE

EREE2)

() BHNKRRREGEDT ()
REARHNREGERBEAR
ERE L A HRA B ER T A
fhat & at R R ) 15
PRI - TREFIZEAMER
H% AR -

Share options
granted to

employees

B8 & 1R i fR R #E

Date of grant

Weighted average exercise share price
Dividend yield (%)

Expected volatility (%)

Expected life

Risk-free interest rate (%)

Rt AH

R Mg TEE
B (%)
TR IR E (%)
TREF
BRI (%)

23 September 2019
—E-hE
RA=t=H
HK$0.35 & T
86.67%

5

1.303%
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28.

29.

*

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
There was no material major non-cash transactions for the year ended 30
April 2021 and 2020.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company have been unable to contact Mr. Zhou, who was the former
chairman of the board of the Company, the former chief executive officer
and a former executive director of the Company, and Ms. Meng, who was
the former compliance officer and the former executive director of the
Company, since 22 July 2021. The Company tried to contact Mr. Zhou and
Ms. Meng including residence visits, by email, by telephones and by other
telecommunication means but has not been successful. Mr. Zhou is also

the legal representative of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.

Since Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng are the legal representative and main contact
persons of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries in the PRC, the Company is
experiencing difficulties in reaching the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries and
obtaining their latest financial information for the purpose of preparing the

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2021.

For identification purpose only

28.

29.

<)o

TEFRERS
BE-_T-—GR-_ZT-_FTFNA=1+
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

The Company has appointed legal adviser (the "PRC Legal Adviser”)
to conduct investigation work on the status of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng in the PRC. The Company has been
reported by the PRC Legal Adviser that the investigation work on the
status of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were

completed and the keys findings are as follows:

a. The Company has been reported by the PRC Legal Advisers as

below:

The PRC Legal Adviser has made enquiry to the branch office
of the Hangzhou Public Security Bureau* (MMM AZRE
HE@E D) and it indicated that Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng
were suspected of illegal absorption of public deposits under
the operation of Zhejiang United Small-and Medium-sized
Enterprises Holdings Group Company Limited* (#/TEiA
NEEIEREBBR A, a company privately owned by Mr.
Zhou and Ms. Meng and not a subsidiary within the Group),
which were under formal investigation. On 21 July 2021, Mr.
Zhou and Ms. Meng were held in custody by the Bureau.
On 26 August 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were officially
arrested by People's Procuratorate of Gongshu District,
Hangzhou. The Bureau has published a press release in relation

to their arrest on 27 August 2021.

29.

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnl 2021
BET-—FMA=THIFE
RERRBESD)
ARAlEREARBR(TEARE
AORE IR ARNKHBELRR - &
FEREXIRTPENBERETHET
fE- MEERBRAARAREAC T
REE LR ARNMBLR - B4
RETHBERASIE TEREHE
RT -
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&R BHRALERART
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REEBERAR(—HHE
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29. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)
a.  (Continued)

The PRC Legal Adviser conducted on-site visit to the
registered offices and principal places of business of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, and found that, the respective
premises of the registered office and principal places of
business of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were either empty
or occupied by other parties instead of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries. The PRC Legal Adviser made enquiry to the
relevant government authorities and found that no other
business addresses were registered by the Deconsolidated

Subsidiaries.

The PRC Legal Adviser also made enquiry to the principal
banks of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries which responded
that the details and status of the bank accounts of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries could only be accessed by
their legal representatives or their delegate. All the legal
representatives of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were unable

to be contacted during the investigation.

Up to the date of this report, the Company has not received any

official documentation from the Ministry of Public Security of the

PRC nor any relevant departments from the PRC government

indicating any of the Company or the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries

are involved in the case that Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were being

arrested.

More information is set out in the Company's announcement dated
on |5 October 2021 and note 2.4.

29.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

b.

Subsequent to the reporting period, a former employee of the
Company initiated a legal claims against the Company in Labour
Department and was first heard in Labour Tribunal on 5 October
2021 in respect of the shortfall of her salary and her allegation of

compensation (the “Dispute Case").

Such Dispute Case was discussed thorough out the Board. The
Dispute Case is still in progress and the outcome is uncertain at this

moment.

However, her shortfall of salaries was included in other payables. The
range of the total amount of shortfall of her salary and her allegation

compensation in total maximum is less than HK$ 1.0 million.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of Directors on 30 November 2021.

e MR HmAR MG
For the year ended 30 Apnl 2021
HE-Z--FMA=THIEE
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements in this

annual report and the Prospectus of the Company, is as follows.

mEER - #IMT e

<)o

AEEAEAENRFENZEREERAR
RERREAFROEERYHERRRARF]

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B -F _T-TF _T-NF ZT-N\F ZT—+F
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TERT FAT TAET FTAT FTAT
Revenue Yz 110,123 144,816 158,401 137,802 148,571
Direct costs BEKA (108,666)  (143,467)  (153,018)  (135980)  (139,278)
Gross profit EH ,457 1,349 5,383 1,822 9,293
Other income and H A R E A
other net loss BT 1,269 (1,424) 3,189 1,012 3,074
Administrative expenses THFX (14971)  (40,804)  (21,456)  (13,480) (6,538)
Loss on deconsoliclation BIHRA AEKB AR
of subsidiaries HEE (23,575) — — — —
Impairment loss on financial assets & EIE EREEE (57,539) (656) — — —
Operating (loss)/profit e (B1B) /&R (93,359)  (41535)  (12.884)  (10,646) 5,829
Finance costs AR 0 (254) (12) (12) (12)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BRATISELAT(B18)
i (93,360)  (41,789)  (12896)  (10,658) 5817
Income tax credit/(expense) Fiisfise,/ (FAx) — 170 (630) (140) (1,250)
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(EB),/ &7 (93,360)  (41,619)  (13526)  (10,798) 4567
Other comprehensive income/ Hin2EHRA/(FAZ)
(expense) (4,173) (1,108) (1,027) — —
Total comprehensive (expense)/ FE2E(FER)/
income for the year LONt (89,187)  (42,727)  (14553)  (10,798) 4567
(Loss)/Profit attributable to RRAGERAEE
owners of the Company (&), &7 (93,360)  (39.581)  (13526)  (10,798) 4567
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AATBEAEGEZE
income attributable to owners of (B3 ),/ WA 25
the Company (91,190)  (40,724)  (14553)  (10,798) 4567
Assets and liabilities EERAE
Total assets BEE 50,172 161,559 137,56 119,542 108,716
Total liabilities war (62,026)  (84226)  (74509)  (46,644)  (25020)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BfE)/BEFE (11,854) 77333 63,052 72,898 83,696
Equity attributable to owners of RRRIER AEEER
the Company (11,854) 79,336 63,052 72,898 83,696




